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Introduction

When three French merchant ships arrived in
1714 in the port of Pondichéry, on the Coromandel coast of India, the disem-
barking sailors found themselves in the midst of a massive celebration.’ The
town was marking the marriage of the son of Pondichéry’s chief commercial
broker, a Tamil man named Nayiniappa.” Ten thousand guests, Tamil and
French, took part in the event. The party went on for days, with elephants,
fireworks, lavish feasts, religious rites, and dance performances—including
one that took place in the house of the commander of the French fort. The
scribe of the French merchant fleet devoted several pages of the ship’s journal
to the description of the event, clearly dazzled by the wealth, influence, and
authority on display.

The host of the wedding celebration, Nayiniyappa, was the most impor-
tant Indian employee of the Compagnie des Indes orientales, the French trad-
ing company governing Pondichéry.’ The town-wide celebration reflected
his place and power in the colony. Yet only two years later this same man
was alone in a prison cell; for days he was held without even knowing the
charges against him. On June 6, 1716, the French colonial court convicted
Nayiniyappa of the crimes of tyranny and sedition after finding him guilty
of abusing his power and organizing an employee uprising that had taken
place the previous year. He was taken to the town’s main bazaar and received
fifty lashes of the whip in front of a watching crowd. All of his vast wealth,
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accumulated over decades of doing business with French traders—the land,
houses, jewels, elephants, cash, and goods—was stripped from him, and his
three sons were banished from Pondichéry in perpetuity. He was sentenced
to serve three years in prison, but just a few months later he died in his cell
under somewhat mysterious circumstances.

Three years after this solitary death, in 1720, a young Tamil man would
kneel to embrace Christianity in the ornate chapel of the royal family in the
Palais Royal in Paris. No less a personage than Philippe d’Orléans, the regent of
France, would serve as his godfather. French missionaries hosted the young
foreigner in their Paris headquarters. A few months after that he knelt again,
this time to receive a French order of knighthood. The pendulum had swung
back for Nayiniyappa’s family, for the kneeling man was his eldest son, Guru-
vappa.* It was likely Guruvappa’s own wedding that the ship’s scribe had
depicted in his journal six years earlier. Nayiniyappa’s son returned to India
ennobled, the banishment rescinded, with a new name honoring his royal
godfather and the young King Louis XV: he was now the Chevalier Charles
Philippe Louis Guruvappa.” He assumed the position that had been his father’s:
chief commercial broker to the Compagnie des Indes in Pondichéry. The
event known in both France and India as l’affaire Naniapa—the broker’s rise,
fall, and posthumous rehabilitation over the course of a decade—had come
full circle as Nayiniyappa’s son returned triumphant to the colony.

These radical reversals of fate were an essential feature of the Nayiniyappa
Affair, the event at the center of this book. And as the Nayiniyappa Affair was
litigated, investigated, and contested, the involved actors all articulated their
vision of French empire in the East and debated the role of local intermediar-
ies like Nayiniyappa in Pondichéry. An investigation of the affair and the fault
lines it revealed shows that conflicts between and within the projects of trade
and religion were a defining characteristic of French empire in South Asia.

The French Crown and its agents were engaged in two central efforts in
India in the first decades of the eighteenth century: building the town of Pondi-
chéry into a prosperous trading hub and converting local men and women to
Catholicism, the religion of the French state. The two efforts at the heart of
the French presence in South Asia—making money and making Christians—
shared important characteristics. French colonial trade and Catholic religious
mission were both concerned with creating and propagating a colonial vision
of order, authority, and morality. However, they differed in the specifics of
this vision, and the intersection of the two efforts entailed significant instabil-
ity and friction. Although the French state chartered, funded, and to a large
measure directed both of these projects, merchant-administrators and mis-
sionaries could not agree on what kind of colony—and colonie was the term
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consistently used by contemporaneous sources to describe the settlement of
Pondichéry—they were creating.

Traders and officials of the Compagnie des Indes sought to sustain the
very profitable status quo and to insert themselves into long-standing Indian
Ocean trading networks. French missionaries, on the other hand, espoused
an ideology of disruption and radical change in an effort to reconfigure the
local spiritual and social hierarchies. The book’s central argument is that com-
merce and conversion in French India were simultaneously symbiotic and
fundamentally in tension with one another. Would the traders’ vision of a
profitable status quo prevail, with the French newcomers seamlessly inserted
into the established networks and markets of the Indian Ocean world? Or
would the missionaries’ transformative agenda emerge triumphant, with a
Catholic order replacing the multiple religious practices in the region?

The complexities of internal colonial rivalries and the imbrication of local
networks within these rival efforts shaped the French experience in South
Asia. The creation of sovereignty in French India, I argue, required distrib-
uted authority. Local intermediaries shared in the mechanism of distributed
authority, effectively sidestepping the binary of collaboration or resistance
that has informed so much of the scholarship on colonial encounters. The
first decades of French rule in Pondichéry, and especially during the course of
the Nayiniyappa Affair, revealed with particular clarity the stakes of such dis-
tributed authority.® The actors most intimately involved in the Nayiniyappa
Affair understood the case as hinging on precisely the intersection of media-
tion and sovereignty.

What, then, was the Nayiniyappa Affair, and why should it matter for the
histories of colonialism, France, and South Asia? The remainder of this book
is devoted to teasing out the affair’s multivalent and layered meanings, but
its twists and turns were the stuff of high drama and can be briefly summa-
rized. Nayiniyappa came to Pondichéry as a young man, and over several
decades of involvement with the Compagnie des Indes he became one of the
richest and most influential men in the French colony. In 1708 the French
governor, Guillaume André Hébert, appointed him to the highest position
a local man could hold: courtier to the company and “head of all Malabars.”
Nayiniyappa and Hébert worked closely together for several years, trying to
build the colony’s trade and reputation. Five years into Nayiniyappa’s tenure
as chief broker, Hébert was removed from office because the directors of the
company in Paris were unhappy with his management of the colony, and he
was sent back to France.

But Hébert wanted to return to India, where a man could make a lot of
money quickly. Hébert’s rivals told an unflattering story about the governor’s
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agenda and methods; according to Nayiniyappa and his allies, Hébert culti-
vated the powerful Jesuits, who had the ear of some of the most important
actors in the French court. In return for the Jesuits’ support—so goes the story
according to Nayiniyappa’'s supporters—Hébert agreed to help the Jesuits
in Pondichéry bring about Nayiniyappa’s downfall. The Jesuits strongly
objected to Nayiniyappa as chief broker because he refused to abandon his
local religion, which we would today term Hinduism, in favor of Christian-
ity.” The Jesuits wanted a Catholic Indian as chief broker.

We cannot know whether Hébert and the Jesuits struck a deal. But in
1715 Hébert was sent back to Pondichéry, and a few months later he ordered
Nayiniyappa’s arrest. Two of Nayiniyappa’s close associates, his brother-
in-law Tiruvangadan and a man named Ramanada, were arrested as well.
Nayiniyappa’s trial attempted to answer the question, how central a role in
the colony’s rule was it possible, permissible, or desirable for a local inter-
mediary to fill? His conviction was an effort to curtail the influence of local
actors. But after Nayiniyappa’s conviction, a global mobilization effort on his
behalf ensued—by missionaries who were rivals of the Jesuits, traders who
were rivals of Hébert, and an association of merchants from St. Malo with
trading interests in India, who relied on Nayiniyappa to keep their ships full
and their journeys profitable. Nayiniyappa died before he could benefit from
these efforts on his behalf, but he was exonerated posthumously. Hébert was
removed from office, sent back to France in disgrace, and ordered to pay dam-
ages to Nayiniyappa’s heirs.

This bare-bones account of the affair does little, however, to reveal its
multiple and contradictory meanings and implications for the history of
French India. An inquiry into Nayiniyappa’s life, downfall, and rehabilitation
starkly reveals the fissures between the commercial and spiritual branches
in Pondichéry, especially between the Compagnie des Indes and the Jesuit
missionaries. We see here conflicts at multiple scales and intersections, with
institutions fracturing against each other and internally: traders against mis-
sionaries, traders against traders, missionaries against missionaries. The
Nayiniyappa Affair pitted government officials and traders on the one side
against Jesuit missionaries on the other, but it was also the site of even more
internal face-offs: current administrators of the Compagnie des Indes bat-
tling their current and former colleagues; traders in France against traders
in India; Jesuits against rival Catholic religious orders, the Capuchins and
Missions étrangéres de Paris (MEP) missionaries, a society created in 1658
expressly for conversions in Asia.® It is worth reiterating that all these actors
purportedly shared a single cause—the prosperity of Pondichéry in the name
of God and king. The Nayiniyappa Affair thus reveals the fractured nature
of the colonial effort.
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Historiographies of both France and South Asia have largely neglected the
history of French India, albeit for different reasons. In colonial South Asia,
the shadow of the British Raj has loomed so large as to obscure the neighbor-
ing French as well as Dutch and Danish colonies in both the Tamil region
and Bengal, site of the French holding in Chandernagore. Even as the histori-
ography of India in the eighteenth century has been growing, it is still, to a
large extent, devoted to unraveling the origins, processes, and consequences
of British rule.’ The study of the Indian Ocean more broadly has grown enor-
mously in recent years, but the French experience within it has similarly
garnered surprisingly little attention. French historians, on the other hand,
have only relatively recently begun to study empire, owing to what has been
described as a “fit of collective imperial amnesia” following the French loss of
colonies in Asia and Africa in the twentieth century." Late twentieth-century
efforts to reckon with the war in Algeria and its ongoing impact on France in
the modern era have been central in the turn toward colonial history, mean-
ing that the bulk of the work on French colonialism has been devoted to
France’s Second Empire, of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries."’ Work
on France’s First Empire, in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, on the
other hand, has by and large focused on the Atlantic. Historians have margin-
alized the French colonies in India and the Indian Ocean and dismissed them
as failures and thus insignificant.'* Yet French experiences in the early modern
Indian Ocean—precisely because they do not follow the trajectory of more
familiar, later imperial histories—enhance our understanding of the conflicts,
challenges, and contradictions inherent in colonialism.

This book integrates ongoing debates about colonial mediation on the one
hand and the making of imperial sovereignty on the other by situating the
Nayiniyappa Affair at the heart of an account of French colonialism in India.
In the first decades of the eighteenth century, across the empire, French actors
and populations newly under French rule negotiated mutual working orders.
This period saw debates over practices of enslavement, cultural blending and
miscegenation, trade and smuggling, and the relationship between metro-
politan vision and colonial enactment."” At the heart of most of these debates
was an attempt to determine the contours of French sovereignty in colonial
locales.' The Nayiniyappa Affair illuminates this phenomenon with particu-
lar clarity, since in the course of the affair debates about mediation and its
limits morphed into explicit claims and counterclaims about both the desired
ambition and the possible reality of French sovereignty.

Cultural mediation, and more specifically the work of native interme-
diaries in colonial settings, has been shown to be pivotal in the making of
emerging empires.” Scholars have demonstrated how colonized subjects,
especially elites, could come to have crucial roles in the creation of political
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and administrative ties between the intermediaries’ communities of origins
and the sometimes far-flung colonial cities where official power was concen-
trated.'® These investigations, however, have focused almost exclusively on
the bridge these go-betweens provided between European newcomers and
indigenous populations. Historians have only recently turned their attention
to the role local intermediaries filled within European political and institu-
tional settings, to examine how they provided an opportunity for colonial
actors to grapple over their different approaches to governance, trade, and
religion.”” In Pondichéry, native colonial intermediaries acted within the Euro-
pean imperial structures, mediating, highlighting, or benefiting from conflicts
among European groups as much as from the differences between new arriv-
als and local populations. The focus on intermediaries in Pondichéry reveals
both that intra-European conflict was a defining feature of colonialism and
that intra-Tamil conflict, particularly between rival families of local brokers,
similarly informed colonial decision making.

Scholars have also attempted to uncover the mechanisms by which impe-
rial sovereignty comes into being.'® Yet this work, Mary Lewis has suggested,
focuses on the unitary, categorical whole of empire, to the neglect of the
local specificity of colonial politics."”” Much attention has been paid to resis-
tance on the ground to colonial sovereign rule, but sovereignty itself is often
described as stemming from political and intellectual trajectories that are con-
ceptually separate from the actual experience of colonialism.* By theorizing
sovereignty in early modern empires as a construct imported from Europe,
this literature obscures the role of local agents, including the significant role
of the intermediaries on which colonial rule relied.* The spatial and temporal
categorizations that posit that concepts of sovereignty arrived with colonists
aboard European ships or were developed in later, more hegemonic imperial
settings do not do justice to the historical record. Agents of the French state in
Pondichéry neither wholly conceived sovereignty in advance nor fully held it
in undivided fashion. French sovereignty had to be constructed in Pondichéry
and thus incorporated local actors, conflicts, and practices.

Puducherry to Pondichéry

The French were the last to arrive of all the Europeans who established trad-
ing posts and colonies in India, following the Portuguese, Dutch, English, and
even the Danes. The Compagnie des Indes orientales, created in 1664, was
the first durable vehicle for French commerce in India. Unlike the merchant-
led Dutch and English companies, the French endeavor was an explicitly
royal project, imagined and executed by Jean-Baptiste Colbert, Louis XIV’s
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minister of finance.” The creation of the company was of a piece with Col-
bert’s broader mercantilist vision, according to which control of foreign trade
was crucial for the state’s well-being.*’ Earlier scholarship has tended to con-
sider the early efforts of European charter companies in the East as “mere”
merchant capitalism; more recently, scholars have demonstrated how these
mercantile efforts acted in state-like ways, with territorial and cultural ambi-
tions informing their decisions, such that the distinction between “purely” or
“merely” commercial projects and political, state-like, imperial, or colonial
ones holds little water.** After all, every European trading company depended
on its relationship with the state that provided its charter.” If it is true that
the early British East India Company presence in India was in many ways
that of a state, as Philip Stern has cogently argued, this was much more the
case in the French experience, since the French company, as scholars have
recently argued, was a “state concern . . . rather than a truly merchant-run
trading organization.”?® The French case is distinctive, not least because the
involvement of various missionary orders, explicitly charted by the French
king and sent to support commercial efforts, demonstrates that the French in
Pondichéry were engaged in an effort to transform the spiritual, cultural, and
political landscape, alongside their attempts to insert themselves into estab-
lished commercial exchanges.

The company’s structure bore witness to its royal origins: a Paris-based
chambre générale of directors appointed by the Crown managed it, under an
official who reported directly to the king.”” Most of the capital that estab-
lished the company was raised from the royal family, government ministers
and other members of the court at Versailles, and financiers. Both Louis XIV
and the powerful minister Colbert were major shareholders in the company,
with the king providing more than three million livres of the original capital
subscription to the company, roughly half the initial capitalization.”® Once
established in India, the Compagnie des Indes, like other European charter
companies, administered towns, made laws and dispensed justice, minted
money, commanded troops, built fortifications, and supported conversion
efforts.”” But in this case the French state was the explicit planner and direc-
tor of its actions, making the imperial dimension of this commercial project
central to the company’s development.

The French first tried to establish themselves in Surat, a bustling and
well-established port in Gujarat on the west coast of India, where the
French founded a trading post in 1668, but they quickly encountered dif-
ficulties.’® Too many rivals, too little room for newcomers. It was in the
town of Pondichéry, almost a decade after the Compagnie des Indes ori-
entales was first formed, that the French would gain a measure of political
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sovereignty, but it was a somewhat haphazard affair at the outset. In the
1670s the company’s traders turned south from their failed effort in Surat to
the Coromandel coast of India. In an unexpected turn of events, Sher Khan
Lodi, a local Indian governor appointed by the sultan of Bijapur, suggested
the French might like their own establishment in the region, and he gave
the French representative Pondichéry as a gift.”’ The village was not far
from English and Dutch holdings, and its Tamil name—Puducherry—meant
“new town.”” The newness of Pondichéry also meant that almost all its
residents—French and South Asian-born alike—were effectively newcom-
ers and that French rule in the town was not displacing an earlier form of
Tamil sovereignty. The French company also made a concerted effort to
cast a broad geographic web in India, founding satellite trading posts (comp-
toirs) in Karikal, Yanaon, Mahé, and Chandernagore, and it maintained its
lodges in Surat and Masulipatam. Beginning in 1701, Pondichéry served as
the administrative, political, and military center of the French presence in
the subcontinent (figure 1).

Pondichéry’s survival and prosperity depended on trade. Trade in India
radiated across a wide-flung web of ports, out from the coastal cities of the
subcontinent to Asia and the Indian Ocean. From Pondichéry, trade routes
fanned out both east—to Aceh, Mergui, Pegu, Batavia, Manila, and China—
and west—to Mocha, the Maldives, and the islands of ile Bourbon and ile de
France in the Indian Ocean. In all these ports, French traders competed not
only with the Dutch, English, and Portuguese but with the commercial com-
munities of Guyjratis, Jews, Muslims, Armenians, and others that had preceded
them.”” Cross-cultural trade, in the Indian Ocean as elsewhere, depended on
trust, familiarity, and reputation, as merchants tried to establish a stronghold
far from home and relied on credit to carry out transactions.’ French traders
would have been intimately acquainted with the absolute centrality of credit
for doing business, since credit structured economic and social life in early mod-
ern Europe.”” For Europeans who arrived in the Indian Ocean, the solution
for their lack of credit and entry was dependence on local actors. The French
were by no means unique in their reliance on intermediaries, since the prac-
tice was widespread across early modern imperial settings.”® But those empires
that managed to transform themselves into more hegemonic powers—and
the British Raj is the most pertinent example—obscured this reliance.”

It is surely no coincidence that the span of the Nayiniyappa Affair cor-
responded to a difficult period for French officials on two fronts: first, the
instability of the French state, and second, the shaky finances of the Compag-
nie des Indes. The instability at the level of the French state was the result of
ongoing war—the War of Spanish Succession in 1701-1714, with its resulting









Figure 2. A 1704 map of Pondichéry exhibits the city’s grid and highlights its religious diver-
sity by noting Jesuit, Capuchin, and numerous local places of worship, described as “pagodas.”
“Plan de Pondichéry a la c6te de Coromandel occupé par la Compagnie royale des Indes orientales/
mis au jour par N. de Fer—1704.” Bibliothéque nationale de France, département Cartes et plans,
GE D-17834.
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Figure 3. This 1716 map, drawn by Nayiniyappa’s ally, the engineer Denyon, shows the growth
of Pondichéry in the first two decades of the eighteenth century. “Plan des ville et fort Louis de
Pondichéry par M. Denyon.” Bibliothéque nationale de France, MS-6432 (1BisA).
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The town’s physical setting was a crucial feature of its commercial and
demographic success in the first decades of the century. During much of
the year the town’s port was relatively sheltered from the monsoons, and a
river flowing into the sea, navigable by small, flat-bottomed boats, made it an
attractive spot for trade.”" The port did not allow for the anchoring of large
ships, so the town had no wharves; instead, small vessels darted through the
water, loading and unloading merchandise.”” The fort on the water’s edge
where Nayiniyappa was held was meant for the town’s protection, but it also
was used as Pondichéry’s commercial and administrative center, with the
Compagnie des Indes’s offices and chambers of the Superior Council housed
within.

French ships left Pondichéry carrying a dizzying array of textile products,
cotton, silk, and wool in well over one hundred different varieties.*> The
volume of trade in textiles over these years was quite variable; in general,
however, the first three decades of the eighteenth century were a period
of steady expansion of French investment in Pondichéry.* Nevertheless,
the French company got a smaller share of trade than the English and
Dutch companies, and ships sent by the Dutch East India Company and the
English East India Company consistently outnumbered French ships head-
ing to the East.”

The exact demographic makeup of Pondichéry’s population in the first
decades of the eighteenth century is difficult to determine, since the first
existing census dates from 1769.*° At the time of the Nayiniyappa Affair,
the French population of Pondichéry is estimated to have been only 1,000
to 2,000 souls, among a general population numbering in the tens of thou-
sands.” The French residents were mostly employees of the Compagnie des
Indes—traders, clerks, soldiers, sailors, doctors, engineers, and the like—but
some French residents arrived there independently, lured by the opportu-
nity to trade on their own account. The non-French population made up the
vast majority; in 1740, a French writer estimated Pondichéry’s population to
have grown to 120,000.” Roughly one-third of these residents were weav-
ers, who manufactured the cotton textiles that were the central commod-
ity of French trade in India, and their presence in the colony was therefore
of paramount importance. Throughout this period, when textile workers in
South India enjoyed significant mobility, weavers and merchants migrated
to Pondichéry, as the company was engaged in labor-intensive projects of
fortification, acquired several villages surrounding Pondichéry, and grew its
textile production operations.*” The new residents were mostly practitioners
of local religion (what today would be glossed as Hindu) and diverse in caste.
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The fact that they formed the town’s majority would figure prominently in
the Nayiniyappa Affair, as traders and missionaries tried to decide precisely
what place a non-Christian broker should play in the town’s commerce and
politics. The town’s judicial and administrative records, as well as maps from
the period, also attest to the presence of a much smaller population of local
converts to Christianity, a small community of Muslims,’® and a handful of
Armenian merchants, as well as new arrivals from other parts of India beyond
the Coromandel coast. Many French households also held Indian domestic
slaves, both Christians and Hindus.”!

The town’s spatial layout was segregated, separated into so-called White
Town and Black Town. In this, the town was organized according to urban
plans conceived by the Dutch during the brief period late in the seventeenth
century when Pondichéry was under their control.”> White Town was adja-
cent to the water, encompassing the port and the fort, and the larger Black
Town lay mostly to the west, in the area of higher elevation, but the line
between the two was a porous one.”” Despite the town’s explicitly segregated
layout, French and Indian actors who came together at Pondichéry’s found-
ing in the late seventeenth century attempted to paint it as a religiously and
culturally diverse and cosmopolitan locale, a location that would be both a
port of departure and a point of destination. By the beginning of the eigh-
teenth century, the residents of Pondichéry were indeed a fairly cosmopolitan
bunch. The marriage and death records, kept by the Capuchins who acted
as the Catholic population parish priests, revealed that the town’s residents
hailed from all over the globe: various locales in South Asia, the Indian Ocean
island colonies, Bagdad, Isfahan, Ireland, England, Germany, Venice, and as
far afield as Canada.

Religious Tensions in a Commercial Town

In 1708, Pondichéry’s colonial officials issued a proclamation on behalf of
the company’s board of directors. It proclaimed in Tamil, French, and Portu-
guese that merchants of every nation should pursue commerce in Pondichéry
and would not be disturbed.* The 1708 proclamation promising a welcome
haven for all, on the one hand, and the cityscape’s grid of racial and religious
segregation, on the other, reveal an unresolved tension that lay at the heart
of the French presence in Pondichéry. The goals of French officials to make
the town both a place in which authority took a Catholic form and a com-
mercially successful city in a landscape that was emphatically non-Christian
seemed at times to be mutually exclusive. The ongoing conflicts about the
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integration of commercial ambitions and missionary agendas tried but did
not succeed in resolving this tension.

When the Compagnie des Indes was created, its charter charged the com-
pany not only with commercial profit making but also with propagating and
supporting Christianity in the territories under its control.” The relationship
between religious mission and the state in early modern colonial projects
was hugely variable, with different fault lines appearing in different contexts.
French India not only highlights this variability but also reveals the challenges
that religious agendas posed to commercial and political efforts in newly
established colonial settings with existing strong local state systems. Such
challenges were much less visible in cases where political, cultural, and reli-
gious hegemony was achieved.’® In Pondichéry, the multiple agendas of rival
missionary groups made the bifurcated nature of French empire in India—the
simultaneous mandate to advance both commerce and Christianity—all the
more difficult to achieve. Missionaries of different orders all sought to advance
conversion agendas through cooperation with the state and state-supported
commercial projects. French missionaries of different orders in Pondichéry
were thus adversaries vying for resources and influence. Nayiniyappa’s body
was a site for the unfolding of this battle.

In the seventeenth century and early in the eighteenth century, Christian
missionary work in South Asia was the exclusive domain of Catholics. The
missionaries who made Pondichéry their base were Frenchmen of three
separate Catholic orders: Jesuits, Capuchins, and members of the Missions
étrangeres de Paris. The Capuchins, an offshoot of the Franciscans, were
the first to appear in the colony, arriving in Pondichéry in 1674 and serv-
ing as both parish priests to the European Catholics and missionaries to the
local population. From the very earliest days of the Compagnie des Indes’s
presence in India, the Capuchins often positioned themselves as allies to and
participants in the royal commercial project. The collaboration between the
company and the Capuchins both stemmed from and exacerbated the Capu-
chin rivalry with the Jesuits—a rivalry so pronounced that some locals once
asked a Venetian living in Pondichéry whether he worshipped the God of the
Jesuits or the God of the Capuchins.”

The Jesuit-Capuchin conflict originated with the arrival of the Jesuits
in Pondichéry in 1689, when the ambitious newcomers compromised the
Capuchins’ position as sole religious providers. Upon the Jesuits’ arrival,
Governor Francois Martin divided the spiritual field, declaring that the
Capuchins would serve as chaplains to the European parish, and Jesuits
would tend to the flock of indigenous Christians and potential Christians.
This compromise suited neither side. Internal divisions and bitter exchanges
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between the groups would figure prominently in the Nayiniyappa Affair.
The squabbles between the Jesuits and the Capuchins consistently unfolded
before both ecclesiastical authorities and the institutions of the French
state.’®

The deepest and most persistent struggle between Capuchins and Jesuits
in French India revolved around the form of religious ministration to neo-
phytes and potential converts. Conflicts between Jesuits, members of other
Catholic orders, and the church hierarchy writ large were by no means lim-
ited to Pondichéry, manifesting as the “Malabar Rites” controversy in South
Asia and the “Chinese Rites” controversy in China. In both sites, Vatican
officials and rival orders objected to the Jesuits’ conversion practice and ide-
ology known as “accommodation,” which allowed new converts to main-
tain local customs (for example, those pertaining to marriage and burial
rites) after conversion to Christianity. The Jesuits’ opponents argued that
accommodation diluted Christianity.*” This controversy had higher stakes in
Pondichéry, which was ruled by Catholics, unlike, say, Madurai, the Tamil
city where Jesuit accommodationist practice in India was developed. Con-
testations over accommodation led to bitter conflicts between missionaries
of different orders. But the debate also informed the conflict between the
Jesuits and officials of the Compagnie des Indes because while the Jesuits
were willing to accommodate their converts in an effort to bring them to
Christ, they saw no reason why the company officials would reward and
advance those local residents, such as Nayiniyappa, who refused to convert
to Christianity.

The Second Empire of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries would fea-
ture frequent conflicts between a state seeking anticlericalism and colonial
ventures dependent on missionary labor, as J. P. Daughton has shown.®” No
such inherent conflict underlay the struggles in French India early in the eigh-
teenth century that would explode in the course of the Nayiniyappa Affair.
Administrators and religious workers were sent to India long before the
invention of laicité, the secular nature of the state, as a French ideal. Com-
mercial and religious agents alike were acting on behalf of a divinely ruling
king, the head of the Gallican church, and were furthering the ambitions of
a state explicitly and timelessly Catholic. Colonial officials and traders in the
early eighteenth century would therefore have shared many of the goals and
attitudes of their missionary contemporaries. Yet the repeated struggles in
Pondichéry among lay and religious agents indicate that the ideal of a shared
commercial-religious agenda, manifest in both the charter of the company
and missionary texts, remained elusive in practice. As the French in India tried
to enhance their commercial, administrative, judicial, military, and spiritual
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position, the bifurcated nature of a colony in which traders and missionaries
were struggling over control hampered their efforts.

The Nayiniyappa Affair as a Prism for Empire

Tensions about the interpenetration of secular and religious authority drove
the Nayiniyappa Affair, and an examination of the affair sheds new light on
their significance. Using the Nayiniyappa Affair as a prism for French empire
more generally makes possible a new understanding of both. Yes, the Nayini-
yappa Affair was in part a battleground for powerful Jesuits, their missionary
rivals, and factions within the French commercial venture. But if we simul-
taneously consider the broader imperial context and the local struggle for
prominence in Pondichéry, a fuller understanding of events emerges. The
Nayiniyappa Affair was neither French nor Indian but a Pondichéry affair. It
grew into existence in the landscape of the colony, and thereby it inevitably
wove together strands both local and metropolitan, French and Tamil. The
affair brought together the interests of the town'’s petty shopkeepers and its
wealthiest traders, the highest echelons of French officialdom with illiterate
Tamil widows, well-connected missionaries born in France, and multilingual
children of the Jesuits” local employees. The Nayiniyappa Affair also affords
a unique entry into the life of an indigenous actor and his social, familial,
religious, and commercial milieu. Affaires, the scandalous and well-publicized
trials that were a feature of public life in the Old Regime, were also common
in the colonies.”" Yet the Nayiniyappa Affair stands out for having an indige-
nous actor at its center, one who is doubly exceptional for having managed to
attract significant advocacy to his cause and overturn the decision against him.

This study, then, considers the contested and unstable aspects of imperial
claims, and of French claims in India in particular. It situates the agency of
indigenous actors, and especially brokers and intermediaries, at the center
of these contestations and as a result at the very center of the colonial expe-
rience. Imperial sovereignty had to be continually constructed, and in this
period it was never fully achieved. The example of French India demonstrates
how early imperial formations relied on dispersed and fractured authority,
shared and contested among agents with diverse agendas, backgrounds, and
political and religious allegiance, whose hierarchical relations to one another
were in a state of flux.

Chronology soothes as it smooths, its unfolding coming to seem inevitable
and logical. In the following chapters, I resist a chronological narrative of the
affair, instead opting for a prismatic history, returning to the same details and
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events in each chapter, slightly shifting the analytic lens in each one to go
over the same narrative material. The thematic approach aims to excavate
the overlapping layers of the Nayiniyappa Affair, to show that it cannot be
reduced to a tidy event, one with a linear narrative, heroes and villains, or
unitary meaning. The metaphor of the prism is especially apt here. As a prism
reflects, returns, and refracts light in multiple directions, so the documentary
richness distributed by the Nayiniyappa Affair in archives in France and India
sheds new light on the role of trade and religion in the making and unmaking
of colonial authority.

French colonial administrative records of the Compagnie des Indes form
the central archive on which this book relies, but it also draws on a diverse
set of materials held in archives in France and India, including missionary let-
ters, court records, notarial records, and personal diaries. While most of the
source material was written in French and collected by French institutions, its
authors are both Frenchmen and South Asian-born residents of Pondichéry.*
Surely, Tamil and other Indian actors appear in this archive with their voices
refracted through multiple processes of translation and often with French
coauthors; but their involvement in the production of these archives—an
issue explicitly taken up in greater detail in the book’s final chapter—means
that local intermediaries played an important role in the construction of the
French colonial bureaucratic and judicial record. Bringing together these
authors, genres, and modes of archival production is a crucial methodology
of the prismatic history that follows. The result is both a microhistory of
the Nayiniyappa Affair and a broad consideration of French imperialism in
this period. As a French imperial history that pays close attention to the fine
details of a largely forgotten local affair, this study draws out the intricate
negotiations that situate empire in place.®’

The book is composed of three parts. The first part examines the reli-
ance of both trader-administrators and missionaries in the newly established
colony of Pondichéry on local intermediaries and discusses the social, politi-
cal, and commercial structures in which French colonists, missionaries, and
intermediaries all intersected. Chapter 1, “The Elusive Origins of a Colonial
Scandal,” provides multiple answers to a deceptively simple question: Why
was Nayiniyappa arrested? Chapter 2, “Kinship as Politics,” considers the role
of family networks, both French and Tamil, in the development of French
empire in India.

The second part centers on Nayiniyappa’s days in court and the details
of his investigation, appeals, and the reinvestigation of the affair. Chapter 3,
“The Denial of Language,” serve as a corrective to the tendency in Euro-
pean imperial history to overlook the centrality of polylinguistic scenarios
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in colonial encounters. It examines the relationship among French, Portu-
guese, and Tamil in colonial politics of commerce and conversion and in the
unfolding of the Nayiniyappa Affair. Chapter 4, “Conflict at Court,” examines
the affair as a court case, addressing the judicial setting in which it took place
and the legal questions it attempted to resolve.

The third part considers the repercussions of Nayiniyappa’s conviction,
death, and posthumous rehabilitation. Chapter 5, “Between Paris and Pondi-
chéry,” focuses on mobility in the Indian Ocean and between France and
India. Chapter 6, “Archiving the Affair,” describes the archives in which traces
of the Nayiniyappa Affair are sedimented and reveals the agentive processes
by which these archives and subsequent historical narratives were created.
The book’s epilogue reflects on how Nayiniyappa’s role in the imperial proj-
ect in Pondichéry shaped his life and in turn shaped the politics of the colony.
In other words, it inquires into the effect of empire on individual lives and
the impact of individuals on the development of empires.



PART ONE

The World of
the Affair






CHAPTER 1

The Elusive Origins of
a Colonial Scandal

When he was twenty years old, Nayiniyappa,
a merchant of Madras, moved to the newly established French colony of
Pondichéry. Forty-three years later, in 1717, he died in a prison cell in Fort
St. Louis, Pondichéry’s center of French administrative and military power
in India. At the time of his death he had served three months of a three-year
prison sentence for the crimes of tyranny and sedition, having been removed
from his post as the colony’s chief commercial broker and head of the town’s
indigenous population, a position the French referred to as courtier and chef
des malabars. As Pondichéry’s chief commercial intermediary, Nayiniyappa
had amassed considerable property, but the French confiscated all his wealth,
including precious gems, horses, elephants, and several houses. In a rite of
public humiliation, he was whipped with fifty lashes in Pondichéry’s main
bazaar. Had he lived out his prison term, he and his entire family would have
been banished from the colony forever. None of these details are contested.
The meanings of the scandal that came to be known in India and in France as
l‘affaire Nayiniyappa are not nearly as straightforward.

The Nayiniyappa Affair has a haunting quality. Fort St. Louis no longer
stands, so Nayiniyappa’s ghost hovers instead in the archives. Officials of the
Compagnie des Indes in Pondichéry maintained detailed yearly logs of their
doings, as well as copies of all their correspondence.' The logs for most years
contained exhaustive and meticulous descriptions of changes in personnel,

21
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new building projects, and discussions of the political situation surrounding
Pondichéry. But a large portion of the records for the years 1716 to 1724 is
devoted to Nayiniyappa’'s conviction, the subsequent appeals on his behalf,
and the resulting official investigations. The wealth of documentation attests
to the imaginative pull Nayiniyappa’s downfall exerted, as more and more
actors in India and in France participated in the analysis, reinvestigation, and
interpretation of the events surrounding his arrest. Nor was this interest lim-
ited to Nayiniyappa’s contemporaries. When the colonial exhibition of 1931
was mounted in Paris, officials in Pondichéry sent a small handful of docu-
ments to represent the history of French India.” They selected three that con-
cerned the Nayiniyappa Affair.’

Why was Nayiniyappa arrested? No easy answer to this deceptively simple
question exists. Several of Nayiniyappa’'s contemporaries debated the story
of his plummet from Pondichéry’s pinnacle of power, as did he himself. Dif-
ferent groups of actors—French government officials in both the colony and
metropole; missionaries of various Catholic orders; friends and relatives of
Nayiniyappa; traders employed by the Compagnie des Indes and trading
associations in Brittany; and, later on, historians of French India—have inter-
preted Nayiniyappa’s investigation, conviction, and posthumous exoneration
differently and provided divergent explanations for the origins of the affair.

Through the juxtaposition of these competing interpretations of the
affair’'s commencement, a picture of the colony emerges. The different ori-
gins ascribed to the Nayiniyappa Affair reveal starkly different understandings
of colonial authority; the relation among metropolitan center, periphery, and
colony; and the role of local intermediaries in the French overseas project.
These parallel and contradictory versions of events, I argue, created a point
of condensation that enabled different groups to articulate their own vision
of the imperial project in relation to the Nayiniyappa Affair.

While each of the four interpretations of the affair’s origins examined here
offers a different version of the unfolding of events, they all shared an under-
lying concern. Missionaries, colonial officials, Indian employees, and metro-
politan traders all attempted to offer solutions to a vexing question: What was
the basis for colonial authority and sovereignty? The issue was especially trou-
bling in the early decades of the eighteenth century, when Pondichéry was
a relatively new and unsettled seat of French power, facing constant threat
of military attack and financial collapse. Its sovereignty was a very fragile
construct, its hegemony more aspiration than reality. Michel-Rolph Trouillot
has argued that success is a matter of continuous historical articulation rather
than fact.* Colonial empires of the nineteenth century narrated themselves
as inevitably successful. But early French and Indian concerns about the
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justifications for European sovereignty and the limits of authority offer a dif-
ferent tale, one that sheds light on the conditions in which colonial projects
come into being and their subsequent historical and political retellings. Rather
than presenting a teleological narrative of hegemony, the tensions driving the
Nayiniyappa Affair and those that erupted in its multiple retellings allow for a
more complicated understanding of authority in colonial settings. The affair
reveals shifts and uncertainties in the distribution of authority, particularly
in how forms of kinship, exchange, and belonging, both local and imported,
supported and supplemented the state. The juxtaposing of the four accounts
of the origins of the affair recounted in this chapter is what makes such shifts
legible and knowable.

Where Do Go-Betweens Go? Commercial
Brokers in South Asia

When employees of the French trading company and Catholic missionaries
first arrived in Pondichéry in the 1670s, they found a region roiling with politi-
cal upheaval and mighty military struggles, among both European and Indian
polities, and the political landscape was in a state of bewildering flux. The
commercial world posed a different challenge to French newcomers: the mar-
itime trading associations of the Indian Ocean world were well established,
cemented by centuries of contact and exchange and based on the familiarity
of kinship and religious affiliation. Scholars of Indian Ocean trade have shown
that European involvement in the region was less transformative of these
networks than previously assumed. The preexisting structures were sustained
throughout most of the eighteenth century, with European traders trying to
position themselves within these structures rather than displacing or transfig-
uring them.’

One scholar has argued that to the extent to which the Indian Ocean was
an integrated world system, it relied on the work of commercial brokers.°
And while it was not only Europeans who employed commercial brokers
to facilitate trade, European trade companies in the Indian Ocean had no
established networks of kinship or origin upon which they could draw for
support and thus depended even more heavily on their brokers.” In both com-
mercial and political spheres, therefore, Europeans in general and French
newcomers in particular, since they were the last of the European powers
to arrive in India in the seventeenth century, needed to negotiate a place
for themselves in densely populated and often confusing realms. To do so,
they relied on the services of local intermediaries, who either introduced
them into new markets or acted on their behalf. Commercial brokers—such
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as Nayiniyappa—who were employed by the Compagnie des Indes and by
individual traders filled this function.

The many terms used to refer to these actors—intermediaries, go-
betweens, middlemen, cultural brokers, middle figures, marginal men,
passeurs culturels—are an indication of a certain murkiness inherent in the cat-
egory. Arguably, anyone in a cross-cultural encounter acts as an intermediary,
but such a definition renders the category too vague to have much analytic
purchase. My own use of the term “intermediary” is intentionally narrow:
Pondichéry’s intermediaries were men—and it was exclusively men who
were appointed to these positions—whom French traders and missionaries
retained as paid employees, as either commercial brokers or religious inter-
preters, known as catechists in the Catholic terminology. They thus intention-
ally and self-consciously acted as go-betweens. Nayiniyappa himself reflected
on the meaning of the position and described it as a fundamentally public
role at the center of the colony. He wrote, “For there to be communication
between the Frenchman and the Indian, there is need for an intelligent man,
who will act as an ambassador between the two nations. He is called the chef
des malabars and is a public man. The [governor] addresses only him, and he
alone is known by the Indians. It is a very distinguished position in this land.”

The issue of nomenclature of commercial brokers in Pondichéry is a sur-
prisingly thorny one. In Madras, Pondichéry’s neighbor to the north, these
brokers were known as “dubashes”—according to one etymology, meaning
“men of two languages.” Although South Indian historiography frequently
uses the term “dubash” to refer to these actors, French sources of the period
do so rarely. The French equivalent term, usually rendered daubachy, does
show up in French documents but not in the first decades of the eighteenth
century. In the first three decades of the eighteenth century in Pondichéry,
several different terms were used to refer to the Tamil men who enabled
French trade. One term was “modeliar,” which stems from the Tamil word
for “first” (mudal); it is commonly used to designate a Vellala caste group to
which many of these men belonged. A second term often used to refer to
brokers is the French word courtier. Most often courtier referred to those, like
Nayiniyappa, who had obtained the highest rank of commercial brokers, hired
by the Compagnie des Indes as the most senior Tamil employee in the colony;
the term was typically joined to chef des malabars (head of all Malabars)."

The double title, courtier et chef des malabars, points to two different aspects
of these men’s position at the crossroads of two cultural systems and their
ability to act at the intersection of needs. As courtiers, they were enmeshed
in a French system of service, with a commitment to furthering the agenda
of the French company and the Crown. But simultaneously, they were chefs
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des malabars, local leaders of the Tamil community and therefore responsible
also for representing the interests and voices of local merchants and workers
back to the company. This double positioning at the heart of both the French
and the Tamil commercial and social infrastructure in Pondichéry enabled
commercial brokers to become such central figures of authority. This double-
sourced authority also motivated French anxiety about the repercussions of
intermediaries’ power and influence in the colony and beyond.

The services commercial brokers provided were diverse; under French
employment, their main task was to ensure that enough merchandise would
flow into French hands, so that the ships leaving Pondichéry’s port would be
fully stocked with the cloth and other commodities that were then sold in
European markets. To this end, brokers negotiated with regional merchants
who supplied goods but also set up both farming operations and artisanal cen-
ters, where raw materials were produced and transformed into commodities.
In return, brokers received a percentage of the sale they had made possible—
generally between 2 and 4 percent. They were also able to extend credit, to
the French trading company, to individual French traders, and to their Asian
partners. Well-positioned intermediaries not only supervised and made pos-
sible the flow of goods into company ships, but they also managed diplomatic
relations with local rulers by writing letters, leading delegations to courts, and
arranging for the exchange of gifts. In addition, they were responsible for local
labor markets. In Pondichéry, this meant recruiting and managing the highly
skilled textile workers (mostly weavers and dyers) who produced the colony’s
most important commodity. As Shubhra Chakrabarti has noted in the context
of Bengal, artisans and producers owed their allegiance and commitment not
to the European company but to the local brokers and intermediaries who
hired them and provided them with orders and capital."" This was also the
case in Pondichéry, where the chief broker was charged with managing rela-
tions with local artisans, either directly or through a subordinate group of
merchants who acted as intermediaries for him. But intermediaries were also
involved in other labor markets. For example, hired intermediaries recruited
and managed Indian seamen, or lascars, to serve on the ships of the English
East India Company.'

Commercial brokers made the trade of the company possible, but they
also enabled the private trade of French traders who were employed by the
company but were eager to take advantage of opportunities to trade on their
own account. This meant that every single employee of the Compagnie des
Indes in Pondichéry, from the governor on down to the lowliest sailor at the
port, had a strong, personal incentive to see the colony’s commerce in the
region flourish and continue to grow. The fact that the Nayiniyappa Affair



26 THE WORLD OF THE AFFAIR

engendered such committed and passionate involvement from so many was a
result of this shared investment in Pondichéry’s commercial prospects. In his
role as chief commercial broker to the French company in Pondichéry, the job
Nayiniyappa held from 1708 to 1716, he held the general responsibility for cre-
ating a robust market in Pondichéry, drawing capital-rich merchants to settle
in the town, ensuring the timely production of textile goods, and generally
enhancing French commercial reputation in the region. Nayiniyappa made
money in the colony flow. Arresting and convicting him, argued his diverse
supporters, jeopardized the colony’s commercial success and by extension its
very existence. Nayiniyappa's importance for the success of Pondichéry was
a feature of the position of brokers in India in the seventeenth and early eigh-
teenth centuries. As Michael Pearson has noted, in the early modern Indian
Ocean “relations between brokers and their clients were by and large ones of
equality rather than (as became the case later) of domination and subordina-
tion.”” The Nayiniyappa Affair, then, gives rise to the following question: In
exchanges between French traders and missionaries and their local interme-
diaries, who was the patron and who was the client?

The French reliance on intermediaries in India did not begin in Pondichéry
but dated back to Surat, a cosmopolitan and prosperous port in Gujarat where
the Compagnie des Indes first tried to established itself. A French comptoir, or
trading “factory,” was established in Surat in 1666. For centuries, Surat had
occupied an important place in the maritime trade of the Indian Ocean, with
a bustling local trade spreading across Asia and to Africa, a wealthy Arme-
nian trading population, and English and Dutch factories. A French Jesuit,
Father Guy Tachard, who arrived in Gujarat late in the seventeenth century,
described Surat as “the most beautiful, the wealthiest, and largest commercial
city I have seen in the Indies, not even excepting Batavia or Goa.”" Indian cit-
ies such as Surat drove the image of an ideally cosmopolitan town that French
administrators later sought to achieve in Pondichéry. Brokers facilitated and
managed the diversity such cosmopolitanism entailed. It was the attempt to
reconcile commercial and cultural diversity with Catholic authority that later
became so divisive for traders and missionaries in Pondichéry.

The status of the French as late arrivals in Surat did not appear initially to
be a great impediment, thanks to aid the French received from local brokers.
In 1666, the Mughal emperor Aurangzeb granted the French a firman, a royal
decree, that allowed them the same trading privileges in Surat as the Dutch
and the English had, and in 1669 the French were granted a firman by the
court in Golconda to establish a factory in Masulipatnam on the Coromandel
coast. Thislatter success largely depended on the connections and efforts of an
Armenian go-between, Martin di Marcara Avachintz, who acted as a broker
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and diplomatic emissary for the French in the 1660s."” Marcara had been born
in Isfahan, in present-day Iran, and possessed many of the most desirable traits
of a broker: he was well connected in a variety of ports, spoke many lan-
guages, and had traveled extensively between India, Persia, and Europe, set-
tling for a while in the Italian port of Livorno before heading to Paris.'® He set
sail to the East in 1666 as part of a French fleet that went first to Madagascar,
then to Surat. From Surat he was sent to advance French interests on the east-
ern coast of India, but he soon fell out with Francois Caron, the director of the
French initiative in India. Caron had the Armenian broker arrested in 1671,
following the spread of rumors that Marcara had poisoned a French colleague
and mishandled French shipping interests. The arrest led to a drawn-out legal
battle that traveled back to France, where, after Marcara was released from
prison in 1675, he demanded restitution for losses he had sustained.'” The dif-
ferences between Marcara and Nayiniyappa are significant—not least among
them Marcara’s Christianity. But much as in the case of Nayiniyappa’s down-
fall, Marcara’s success as a broker proved dangerous. His history with the
Compagnie des Indes demonstrates both the deep roots of French reliance
on Indian Ocean brokers and the tendency of these relationships to transition
from intimate dependence to acrimonious legal struggles.

Scholars have debated how the rise of European power in the subcon-
tinent and the Indian Ocean impacted the position of mediating men like
Marcara, Nayiniyappa, and others. In Ashin Das Gupta’s account, the power-
ful individual brokers of the first half of the eighteenth century gave way to
a class of men who were subservient to colonial masters in the second half
of the century, in a process that was replicated in Bengal, the Coromandel,
and Gujarat."® Shubhra Chakrabarti has argued, on the other hand, that a
class of local commercial brokers remained both crucial to and powerful in
British East India in Bengal well into the late eighteenth century, and reliance
on these intermediary figures did not decline as European political power
grew." This was certainly the case in French India, where political power out-
side the confines of Pondichéry—and sometimes even within it—remained
more notion than reality for much of the eighteenth century.

Before the Fall: Nayiniyappa in Pondichéry

Nayiniyappa arrived in the French colony about 1674 as a young man and
traded with the French long before he was appointed chief broker. He origi-
nally came from the environs of English-ruled Madras. His migration to
Pondichéry was part of the ongoing French attempts to draw prominent and
well-connected merchants to the town. Such residents were much sought
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after, since the French hoped that their credit and reputation would convince
others to conduct trade in the town and with the French company. Nayini-
yappa himself, according to a history written by one of his descendants in the
late eighteenth century, persuaded his brother-in-law to join him and relocate
from Madras to Pondichéry.*

We know little of Nayiniyappa’s daily life in Pondichéry prior to his
arrest—his social encounters, preferences, and day-to-day activities. Luck-
ily, Nayiniyappa’s nephew—a man of the same family, class, and caste, who
filled the very same position of chief commercial broker to the Compagnie
des Indes—kept a minutely detailed account of his own life for twenty-five
years. The diary written by this man, Ananda Ranga Pillai, is renowned as
the first work of Tamil prose in the genre.”" His journal offers a window into
the lives of Pondichéry’s commercial brokers. As chief commercial broker,
Ananda Ranga Pillai kept a close eye on French commercial dealings, both the
appointments of company employees and the comings and goings of French
ships. He had daily contact with French administrators—both the governor
and lower-ranking officials who kept him abreast of developments—and
he had up-to-date knowledge of the proceedings in the Superior Council’s
chambers. Even as Ananda Ranga Pillai was deeply involved in the minutiae
of company trade, he remained intimately invested in his own business as
well, packing up pieces of cloth and visiting his warehouses daily. Like him,
Nayiniyappa also maintained his private business while serving as chief bro-
ker. The level of detail with which the diarist followed the life of the French
governor—Joseph Dupleix for much of his tenure—was minute; on one occa-
sion the broker described the outfit that the governor wore to sleep.”? He
kept close tabs on the broader political landscape, particularly the military
and commercial dealings with the English in Madras—the area from which
Nayiniyappa and Ananda Ranga Pillai’s family had originated and where they
still had close connections. The diary also reveals a very tightly knit familial
circle, with significant space devoted to family events celebrated, the broker’s
concern about his brother, and the future of his children. Ananda Ranga Pillai
was also active in the town’s cultural and spiritual life, commissioning poetry
and donating to temples, as well as participating in religious rituals regularly,
and there is every reason to assume Nayiniyappa did the same.

Over several decades of living in the French colony, Nayiniyappa rose to
fill the influential and profitable post of chief commercial broker of Pondi-
chéry. He first appears in French records already involved with the commer-
cial doings of the French company but not yet its employee. In 1704 his name
appears in the deliberations of the Superior Council of Pondichéry: “The
council has awarded the farming of tobacco and betel leaf to Naniapa for
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two years,” noted the minutes.” Four years later, in 1708, the council again
discussed its business dealings with Nayiniyappa and considered putting a
large provisioning contract in his hands but ultimately decided to choose a
group of merchants with whom it was more familiar.** Even though Nay-
iniyappa did not win this contract, he must have made a good impression
on the members of Pondichéry’s council and the French governor. He was
appointed to the post of head commercial broker, replacing a Christian broker
who had bungled a business deal that the always cash-strapped French com-
pany was eager to undertake.” The replacement of a Christian, even an inept
one, with a Hindu, was unusual.?®

The Jesuit missionaries objected to Nayiniyappa’s appointment in 1708
on religious grounds and continued to do so until the broker’s ultimate
arrest in 1716. In 1711, the Jesuits petitioned the king for a series of mea-
sures meant to boost the number of Christian conversions in the town.”
The petition itself was a testament to their ongoing difficulties with pros-
elytizing. Following orders received from France, the Superior Council of
Pondichéry gathered in March 1714 to discuss the possibility of granting
these Jesuit requests. The council discussed two requests at length. First,
the Jesuits asked that Hindus be allowed the use of only two temples. All
other temples in Pondichéry should be barred shut and allowed to fall into
disrepair. Second, the Jesuits argued that in order to attract new converts,
they must be able to give converts marks of distinction. Accordingly, only
a Christian should hold the post of chief broker, and Nayiniyappa must be
immediately dismissed.

The sitting governor, Pierre Dulivier, was willing to entertain the Jesuits’
demands only grudgingly. The council’s deliberations, probably written
by Dulivier himself, clearly reflect his reluctance. The councillors noted
that both measures—the closure of Hindu temples and the dismissal of
Nayiniyappa—could have dangerous consequences, which might lead to the
“complete ruin of this establishment.”” The council argued that there was not
a single Indian, Hindu or Christian, who was as capable as Nayiniyappa at fill-
ing the post of chief broker.”” Nevertheless, Dulivier and the council offered a
compromise of sorts. First, the council appointed a Christian Tamil cobroker
to serve alongside Nayiniyappa. This man, Chavoury (Tamil: Savari), was,
according to council documents, expected to act “conjointly and in concert”
with Nayiniyappa and was endowed with the same “powers, honors, pre-
rogatives and preeminence attached to the post, without any difference or
distinction between the two.”? Chavoury was also tasked with protecting the
interests of Christians, advancing Christian faith in Pondichéry, and making
sure that Nayiniyappa would not impede these aims.
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Second, the council members declared that they had given Nayiniyappa
six months in which to be instructed in the mysteries of Christianity and con-
vert. If at the end of this period he insisted on remaining a Hindu, they prom-
ised he would be removed as head broker and replaced with a Christian. It
was to be hoped, the council wrote, that the force of the Gospel and the good
example of Christians would attract Nayiniyappa to the Christian faith. Given
the fact that Nayiniyappa had by that point been living around Christians for
several decades, this hope seems to have been misguided. Indeed, six months
later, Nayiniyappa was still a Hindu and still serving as head broker.

In aletter that Governor Dulivier sentin July of 1714 to Jérome Phélypeaux,
Comte de Pontchartrain, the French minister in charge of the Compagnie des
Indes, he advocated for the compromise of the Christian cobroker instead of
Nayiniyappa’s dismissal and explained why Nayiniyappa was irreplaceable:
“This gentile [Nayiniyappa] knows everyone, as your Grace has already been
informed, and is one of the most capable of men in India in the art of negotia-
tion. His correspondents are everywhere, there is no service he is incapable of
providing, even when the need is most pressing.”*' Dulivier explicitly linked
the dismissal of Nayiniyappa with the restrictions of religious practice also
advocated by the Jesuits, writing that acquiescence to these demands could
have tragic results for the future of Pondichéry.**

Complaints about the dearth of suitable candidates were a constant in
the colonial administrators” correspondence with the directors in Paris. In
1719, in the midst of the Nayiniyappa Affair, the directors wrote from Paris to
Pondichéry, listing the kinds of qualities they hoped to find in their courtier in
India: “We suggest, in the strongest possible terms, that you choose a courtier
who is wise, loyal, experienced, and well-listened to, and impress upon him
that he must keep as absolute secret the management of the company’s work-
ings,” they wrote. In a response dated two years later, the colonial administra-
tors in Pondichéry somewhat peevishly wrote back that this was easier said
than done. “We haven't yet settled on a choice for courtier; the talents and
qualities that the company desires to find in the man are absolutely essential,
but not easy to find in this country, if we find someone who accords with the
company’s wishes, we will appoint him.”?*

Ananda Ranga Pillai, a successful broker himself, offered his own account
of the elusive combination of traits that made for a good commercial interme-
diary. In discussing the possibility that his own brother might be considered
for the position, the diarist first described the characteristics that might suit
him for service in the company. “My brother—who is close to thirty-five—
[is] . . . naturally possessed of the gifts of high culture, excellent parts, guarded
temper, winning manners, handsome presence and fortunate birth.” Despite
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these attributes, however, he did not think his own brother was well suited to
fill the role of go-between. The reason: he was “not blessed with the courage
and spirit of enterprise which is indispensable for raising oneself to distinc-
tion.” His brother’s lack of drive was the central problem, or so Ananda Ranga
Pillai believed: “He has no desire to acquire wealth and no ambition to figure
conspicuously in the service of the company. Further he is too retiring to hold
any intercourse with the Europeans.”

Difficulties with finding suitable Christians to appoint to the position of
chief broker in Pondichéry did not conclude with the Nayiniyappa Affair.
In Ananda Ranga Pillai’s diary, in an entry written before he was appointed
to the position himself, he described a conversation on this topic he had
had with a French trader, who urged him to seek out the appointment. The
Frenchman told Pillai in 1746: “There is no one at present as competent
as yourself. If there were any individual amongst the Christians who could
command the confidence of the public, the situation would, no doubt, be
offered to him. But as matters stand, the Christians of this city are all pau-
pers, and are of such condition that people are scarcely inclined to give them
even alms.”” The difficulty of finding a Christian man who was accredited,
well connected, and influential enough to fill the role of chief commercial
broker stood at the heart of the struggle over Nayiniyappa’s fate. If not he,
then who else?

“Tyranny and Sedition”: The Contradictory
Accusations against Nayiniyappa

Despite the Jesuits” 1711 request to dismiss Nayiniyappa and his refusal to
convert in 1714, Nayiniyappa remained in his position as chief broker. This
changed suddenly in 1716, when he was arrested. He faced two charges: sedi-
tion and tyranny. The first of these, sedition, stemmed from an event that
had taken place in 1715, in which local Hindu weavers, laborers, and traders
threatened to abandon the town because of encroachments on religious free-
dom. In a colonial context, with a tiny French community, the fear of popula-
tion loss was never far from the councillors” minds. Accusing Nayiniyappa of
orchestrating an employee walkout thus resonated with ongoing and broad
French concerns about the viability of their efforts in India.”® The crime of
tyranny was a more diffuse signifier. Different observers saw the charge dif-
ferently. Governor Hébert accused him of general abuse of power against
Indians. The Jesuits suggested he had committed religious persecution against
the town’s largely poor and less powerful population of Tamil Christians (an
accusation discussed in greater detail below).
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At first glance, it might seem strange and even contradictory for one man
to stand accused of sedition against French rule and tyranny against colonial
subjects. The charge of sedition refers to an attempt to overthrow the cur-
rent order and supplant it. The charge of tyranny, on the other hand, implies
authority, an ability to use the system and its hierarchy to one’s own advan-
tage. Why would a tyrant wish to overthrow a system that supplies him with
his power? This apparent contradiction speaks to the fact that Nayiniyappa’s
French employers found his position in the colony unsettling. The greater
Nayiniyappa’s value to his employers, the more his authority grew, and the
more threatening he became because of their reliance on him. This contra-
diction helps explain Nayiniyappa’s rise to prominence, his downfall, and his
subsequent posthumous rehabilitation.

Nayiniyappa on the Origins of the Nayiniyappa Affair

In the brief period between his arrest in 1716 and his death in prison in 1717
Nayiniyappa participated in the creation of two documents appealing his
conviction. He signed the first, which was written in Portuguese and trans-
lated into French, on December 20, 1716. The second was printed in Paris in
1717. The complex authorship of these documents is discussed in more detail
later—Nayiniyappa had French coauthors—but he did personally participate
in the writing of these documents, which are presented as his point of view.
Both appeals display knowledge of the biographical details of his life and dis-
cuss at length details from the broker’s multiple interrogations, when only
Nayiniyappa, Governor Hébert, and a Tamil interpreter were in the room.
Taken together, the two appeals offer Nayiniyappa’s own understanding of
the reasons for his arrest.

The first document opens by noting the peculiar difficulties of appeal-
ing to Parisian officials from the colony. “A process so unjust, striking, and
evil . . . obliges Naynapa [sic], as far away as he is, to put himself at the feet of
your Majesty, and those of the Company, to reclaim and demand justice.””
In Nayiniyappa’s tale of the origins of his plight, his service to the company
was distinguished by a series of satisfied employers, a flourishing trade, and
a colony beloved by its people: “In this state M. Hébert found this place the
first time he arrived here.” The golden days continued during Hébert’s first
tenure as governor (1708-1712), and the appeal noted Hébert’s satisfaction
with the broker’s “good and agreeable services and fidelity, which attracted
the affection [of the colony’s administrators].”?*

When Nayiniyappa tried to explain why Governor Hébert had turned
against him in 1716, he turned toward Paris for an explanation, citing the
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official’s brief return to France from India. Once back in France, Nayiniyappa
conjectured, Hébert no longer had the strength of character to ignore the
“false persuasions” of troublemakers. He described those same meddlers—
obviously the Jesuits, though they remain unnamed—as “those who, having
become masters due to their adulation of those in power, followed no rule,
and did not hesitate to take any means, even the most unjust . . . to achieve
their ends.””

Lured by these “seditious voices” and a desire to amass riches made more
pressing, Nayiniyappa wrote, by a financial loss Hébert had suffered due to a
shipwreck, Hébert sided with the Jesuits. The use of the term “seditious” is
significant. Here the appeal used the same accusation levied at Nayiniyappa
against the Jesuits, implying that their actions were those that posed a real
threat to the colony and to long-term French sovereignty. Since Hébert owed
his reinstallation in Pondichéry to the Jesuits, claimed Nayiniyappa, the gen-
eral began “believing that he may not refuse them anything, regardless of
what injustices may accompany their requests.” Once Hébert returned to
India as général de la nation, according to the broker, he “executed absolutely
all of [the Jesuits’] desires, even the most unreasonable, and would not forgive
anyone whom he suspected or presumed of being their enemies.” Nayini-
yappa pleaded ignorance of why the Jesuits considered him an enemy, saying
there was no “possible reason for this, since he had always provided services
to them and to their Christians.”*’

Nayiniyappa framed the period following Hébert’s return to Pondichéry
as an abandonment of the old ways that had functioned smoothly in his first
governorship: “From the moment of Hébert's return to Pondichéry . . . every-
thing changed in an instant: virtue became a crime, the innocent became the
culprit, and Naynapa, until that point honored, praised, endowed with a posi-
tion of confidence . . . became nothing more than a victim, suitable to be
sacrificed to those whom he had displeased.”*' This account starkly evoked
the complete and utter semiotic confusion created for all involved in the Nay-
iniyappa Affair, the sense that signs and established modes of communication
had lost their purchase: nothing was as it seemed, nothing was as it should be.

The issue of unwarranted, inexplicable change was central to Nayini-
yappa’s understanding of his own downfall. Thus he summed up one of his
appeals: “Naynapa was innocent during the first government of Hébert but
became guilty upon his [Hébert’s] return to India in 1715. . . . This was the
price of [Hébert’s] new post as general. After forty-three years of innocence
and good conduct, Naynapa was no longer the same man in the eyes of a
man changed by ambition.” The affair, as Nayiniyappa’s appeals presented
it, was divorced from any action he himself had taken. The primary moment



34 THE WORLD OF THE AFFAIR

was a decision to accuse him, while the content of that accusation was of
only secondary importance. To this end his interrogations at Hébert’s hands,
Nayiniyappa suggested, were a predetermined performance leading to his
inevitable conviction: “It was the entire life of a man, all his actions, all his
steps that they wanted to examine, in order to find something with which to
accuse him. This was a man they wanted to condemn, sacrifice and deliver
to his enemies at any price. . . . Where is a just man who could escape such
a rigorous examination?”** No man, the appeals suggested, could emerge
innocent from the kind of performative interrogation to which Nayiniyappa
was subjected.

In Nayiniyappa’s version of events, Pondichéry was a tranquil place, where
money was made and relationships fostered. Problems did not originate in
Pondichéry—French ships brought them there. Thus, his own troubles origi-
nated in France and not in India. This claim has two implications. It presented
the French metropole as a place that was near—near enough that deals that
supposedly took place behind closed doors in Paris reverberated quickly
and profoundly in Pondichéry. It also created a moral hierarchy, in which
Pondichéry ranked higher than Paris, since evil deeds and projects filtered
down from the European metropole toward the colony. This hierarchy of
moral goodness did not, however, overturn the more fixed hierarchies of
justice. Thus Nayiniyappa sent his appeals back to France, in an attempt to
fix a wrong at its place of origin. Finally, by stressing the fact that the affair
began in France and was imported to the colony, Nayiniyappa positioned his
adversaries as usurpers, robbing the colony of its formerly established har-
mony. Presenting himself as a partner in the colonial project in Pondichéry,
he sought to reclaim the influence stripped from him.

The Nayiniyappa Affair as a Jesuit Crusade

Lettres patentes given by the French Crown in 1695 established the Jesuits in
India as emissaries of Louis XIV.* The French Jesuits in India were therefore
in a unique position compared with other members of their order because
they had been sent to the mission field directly by the French king rather
than by the Society of Jesus or the pope. The first task of the Jesuits, as this
text described, was the propagation of the Christian faith, but that was not
their only task: the Jesuit Fathers, “as distinguished for their erudition as
for their piety,” were to report back to France in order to further “the perfec-
tion of the arts, sciences and navigation.” The Jesuits were also exhorted to
support French commercial efforts in India. This caused a split in institutional
allegiance between the Society of Jesus and the French Crown. Ultimately,
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though, in spite of rifts between company officials and Jesuits, the Jesuit mis-
sion was without a doubt a part of the French imperial project in India.

Nayiniyappa blamed the Jesuits for instigating the investigation against
him. The Jesuits would gladly have accepted responsibility for Nayiniyappa’s
downfall—a fully merited downfall in their view. Jesuit missionaries had
attempted to turn Pondichéry into an exclusively Christian town ever
since their arrival in the colony in 1689. Their repeated efforts to curtail pub-
lic religious practice by Hindus largely failed.** But in the second decade of
the century, Jesuit leaders took on Nayiniyappa instead, a much more
circumscribed—and embodied—target. They objected in principle to Hindus
filling positions of prominence in the colony, including other company posts,
and agitated for Christians to fill these roles. Their reasoning was twofold.
First, having a Christian in a prominent post would have boosted the status of
Christianity in the colony, thereby making the task of conversion easier. Sec-
ond, the post of chief broker relied on family networks and benefited mem-
bers of those networks. Having a Christian broker would have been a boon
to the Christian community as a whole and would likely have attracted more
converts and therefore resources. The utopian Christian homogeneity the
Jesuits wanted to erect in Pondichéry was clearly out of reach, at least for the
moment, but they still tried to persuade the French government to present an
unequivocally Catholic front. The Jesuits” argument was that as a Christian
company, running a town with explicitly Christian ambitions, with the sup-
port of a Christian king anointed by God, the Company of the Indies should
not have a Hindu man as its most senior and most visible Indian employee
in Pondichéry.

The Jesuits themselves relied on a whole cadre of local employees to act
as their own intermediaries—the catechists, or native religious interpreters
who served Jesuit missionaries in mission fields around the world. Therefore,
it was not the act of mediation itself that they found problematic, but the
person of the mediator. The Jesuits accepted the fact that the Compagnie des
Indes would rely on the services of a broker, but they demanded that a Chris-
tian like their intimate Pedro, who would later indeed become Nayiniyappa’s
replacement, get the job.

The Jesuit attack on Nayiniyappa could be seen as both strategic and sym-
bolic: the removal of Nayiniyappa would have advanced the Jesuit agenda by
placing a Christian in a powerful position, with favors to dispense. But a Chris-
tian courtier would have more broadly symbolized the desired dominance of
Catholics in the colony. Nayiniyappa’s role as chief broker was highly public.
His own description of himself as a “public man” demonstrated this fact.” His
position was evidence of non-Catholic power in Pondichéry and therefore
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grated on the Jesuits. While they sought to abolish local religious processions
and limit worship in temples, they also agitated to remove Nayiniyappa from
his post. All these efforts in concert contributed to a single aim: the transfor-
mation of Pondichéry into a Christian enclave, or at least the creation of a
Christian facade.

The Jesuits first requested Nayiniyappa’s removal in 1711. Three years later,
Governor Dulivier wrote that “the matter which most concerns the Fathers is
that of Naniapa.”* In 1715 they attacked Nayiniayppa for his involvement in
an event they described as an act threatening to Christian—and by extension,
French—authority. Nayiniyappa’s crime, in the Jesuit telling, was committed
in an unexpected setting: the giving of alms to Pondichéry’s Christian poor,
an event Nayiniyappa hosted in his house over the course of several days in
February 1715. The broker invited several hundred of the town’s most needy
residents and provided them with food, pieces of fabric, and Catholic prayer
rosaries. It is not clear whether only Christians were invited to the almsgiving
or whether the correlation between Christianity and low social status meant
that an event targeted at the poor would draw a mostly Christian crowd. In
hosting this event, Nayiniyappa was following a tradition of gift giving by
affluent Indian merchants. As Douglas Haynes has noted in his study of Surat,
such acts of patronage were meant to transform financial capital into sym-
bolic capital.”” Other Tamil brokers in the region similarly performed acts of
patronage, specifically in Madras.*® Officials of the Compagnie des Indes also
engaged in elaborate acts of ritual gift giving with local Indian rulers.* But for
the Jesuits, the event was an example of Nayiniyappa’s tyranny.

This apparent act of goodwill, argued the Jesuits, was in fact a cruel and
mocking masquerade. They claimed Nayiniyappa had given the food in a man-
ner meant to humiliate and degrade the Christian recipients of his so-called
charity. The Jesuit superior, Jean-Venant Bouchet, wrote a letter of complaint
to Governor Dulivier, claiming that Nayiniyappa had treated Christians “like
dogs” and in so doing offered the Hindu residents of the town a spectacle, “a
comedy.” Beyond the vague allusion to dogs, no information was provided
on what made the almsgiving disgraceful. Father Bouchet asked the governor
to use his authority to “put a stop to such disgraceful acts . . . so that you will
not be blinded by the false appearance of a good work, and thus set straight
those who would be inclined to canonize [Nayiniyappa] for this.”*’ It seems
likely that the goodwill and reputation Nayiniyappa’s acts of patronage and
charity earned him among the Christian converts exacerbated Bouchet’s out-
rage. For Bouchet, the event was part of a series of assaults Nayiniyappa had
committed on Christianity. Bouchet named a number of Christians who had
suffered religious oppression at Nayiniyappa’s hands and claimed the broker
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had forbidden the conversion of several Hindus to Christianity and had, with
promises and threats, convinced several Indian converts to become apostates.

Bouchet dispatched his written complaint to the Superior Council even
as the almsgiving was taking place, and when the members of the council
gathered to discuss the complaint, on February 20, 1715, Christians were still
receiving Nayiniyappa’s largesse.”’ The council sent the newly appointed
Christian cobroker, Chavoury, and an Indian Christian named Pedro (quite
likely the same man who would serve as the chief commercial broker after
Nayiniyappa’s arrest) to find witnesses to the events. The four witnesses
they found, members of the Christian community in Pondichéry, came to
the council’s chambers directly from Nayiniyappa’s house. According to the
council’s official report, they testified that they had gone to Nayiniyappa’s
house of their own free will because they had heard that the broker was
providing “food to the poor, and all those who wished to come would be
welcomed; this is why they went there.” They told the council that three hun-
dred people were taking advantage of the broker’s offer, Christian and non-
Christian alike. In the compound, they were given food and cloth with which
to cover themselves. The witnesses went on to say that nothing had been
done to belittle the Catholic religion, and “if anything had been done to deride
our religion, [we] would not have stayed there.”**> They added that Nayini-
yappa had also given them three hundred rosaries, asking them to dispense
them among the Christian population.”

Following the testimony of the four Christian witnesses, the council sum-
moned Nayiniyappa himself and questioned him briefly. They asked him why
he had held the event, and Nayiniyappa stated that it was an act of charity
and that he was in the habit of giving charity every year. They also asked how
Nayiniyappa had procured so many rosaries—he said he had purchased them
from a sailor, although they were widely sold by both Christian and Hindu
vendors in the bazaar. While the interrogation of the participating Christians
had been lengthy, the questioning of Nayiniyappa consisted of only these two
questions. The council dispatched a letter to the directors in Paris saying that
if the Jesuits were not ordered to “leave everyone alone,” all the company’s
principal Tamil employees would abandon it.”*

Nayiniyappa’s gifts, particularly the cloth and the rosaries, were symboli-
cally laden objects. Cloth in particular would have held special resonance
with the local recipients and French observers alike, both because trade in
textiles was the central interaction between Indian merchants and French
traders and because of the rich symbolic and spiritual meanings of cloth in
both societies.” The Jesuits” fury was mostly directed, however, to the dis-
tribution of rosaries. Father Bouchet singled out this gift as an act meant to
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abuse the naiveté of poor Christians, who presumably would not understand
that they were being used as the tools of their own humiliation. The council
in its investigation also paid special attention to the matter of the rosaries, not
only asking Nayiniyappa about them but also asking the witnesses, for whom
they produced an “authentic” European rosary, whether they had received a
similar object. The witnesses confirmed that they had.

The dismay of French observers at Nayiniyappa’s distribution of rosaries
should perhaps be understood in light of French memory of the Wars of Reli-
gion, which had raged in France in the late sixteenth century. Familiar with
stories of the brutal bloodbaths Catholics and Protestants had inflicted on one
another over matters of Christian dogma, French colonists and missionaries
must have found Nayiniyappa’s act of religious cross-gifting downright inex-
plicable. Yet in the South Indian context, where a measure of religious syncre-
tism was the norm, a Hindu giving out Christian prayer implements would
not have been so shocking.’® The distribution of rosaries, succor for the soul,
was of a piece with the distribution of cloth and food, succor for the flesh.
The broker class to which Nayiniyappa belonged had no horror of Christian
practices such as the missionary writers evinced in relation to “pagan” reli-
gious practice. Ananda Ranga Pillai, Nayiniyappa’s relative and chief broker in
Pondichéry under Dupleix in the mid-eighteenth century, blithely described
his travels in pursuit of Christian-oriented tourism: “I intend to stay at Ari-
yankuppam for a day,” he wrote in his diary, “to see the festival there, which
the Christians celebrate for ten days in magnificent style.””” Furthermore, the
gifting of the rosaries was not the first occasion on which Nayiniyappa himself
had engaged with the artifacts of Christianity in an apparently benign fashion.
In the appeal Nayiniyappa’s sons put forth, they noted in passing that at one
time, prior to the affair, Nayiniyappa had given Governor Hébert a cake as
a gift to celebrate the governor’s saint’s day.*®

The indignation over the rosaries is an instance of what I term semiotic
confusion: Nayiniyappa and his French employers ascribed different mean-
ings to the same sign—in this case the rosaries—with resulting conflict. Both
parties would have understood the gift as an act of patronage, with a resulting
obligation.”” But what Nayiniyappa likely considered a desirable gift struck
the Jesuits as a subversive attempt to take over Catholic authority, a hijacking
of signs from the Jesuits’ symbolic economy to enhance his own standing.

The Jesuits” ongoing difficulties in the mission field in India would have
worsened their outrage. Despite having the support of institutional and mili-
tary authorities in Pondichéry, their success in making new converts was slim.
Several decades after Pondichéry became a French colony, only several thou-
sand of the town’s population of fifty to sixty thousand were Christians.®
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In spite of concerted efforts, they had gained even smaller penetration in
other towns in the Tamil country, where Hindu or Muslim rulers dominated.
The Jesuits likely saw Nayiniyappa’s act of almsgiving as calling attention to
their superfluity in Pondichéry. By taking on a role they would have liked to
fill—that of a munificent and powerful patron—Nayiniyappa strengthened
his own already-strong position at the Jesuits” expense.

Nayiniyappa’s charity, then, challenged the Jesuits’ position at a time when
they had accomplished little in the colony. The ongoing struggles between
Jesuits and Capuchins in Pondichéry, a drawn-out battle over spiritual turf,
only compounded the Jesuits” sense of being vulnerable. The Capuchin order
had a venerable tradition of charity, and the Capuchin missionaries in town
raised no complaint about Nayiniyappa’s assistance to the poor. Tending a
desperately poor flock of converts made the Jesuits vulnerable, in stark dif-
ference to their position in Europe and even some locales overseas, such as
China, where Christianity was in vogue among powerful elites. Nayiniyappa’s
almsgiving thus had the effect of encroaching on territory the Jesuits were
having difficulty claiming.

The accusation that Nayiniyappa had fed the poor Christians as if they
were dogs spoke to an even more insurmountable difficulty the Jesuits faced.
Because so many converts were from the lower castes and so-called pariahs,
Christianity had come to be seen as a lower-caste religion. French Jesuit com-
mentators blamed this on the first Portuguese to arrive in India, arguing that
because the Portuguese did not respect the caste system, they had acquired
a bad reputation among all Indians, and thus greatly damaged the cause of
Christianization in the subcontinent. The Jesuit missionaries went to great
lengths to disassociate themselves from Europeans and even attempted to
“pass” for Brahmans because of the low status of Paranguis, the pejorative
term used to describe Europeans in India, but at the time their flock largely
remained desperately poor.

According to Indian social norms at the time, receiving Nayiniyappa’s lar-
gesse in itself signified depressed status.®” When Nayiniyappa gave alms to
Christians, he drew attention to the very fact that so many of the town’s
Christians were indigent. By allegedly giving them food in a degrading man-
ner, Nayiniyappa, in the Jesuit account, was also ensuring that Christians
remained objects of pity and Christianity a religion to be shunned. The act
of almsgiving, as both a mimicry and mockery of Christian charity, crystal-
lized for the Jesuits their ongoing difficulties and the bleak prospects for the
project of Christianizing India. The fact that their humiliation had taken place
in a town where they should have been in control, and at the hands of a
man they thought unsuitable for the position of head broker, only made their
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predicament more maddening and their crusade against Nayiniyappa more
pressing. Even worse, Nayiniyappa was effectively using the Jesuit practice of
accommodation by incorporating Christian symbols into his realm of author-
ity, thereby besting the Jesuits at their own game.

The Jesuits” subsequent persecution of Nayiniyappa therefore located
the almsgiving, and specifically the gifting of the rosaries, as the moment
when Nayiniyappa committed a crime meriting his dismissal and arrest. By
focusing on this very public moment, which the Jesuit missionaries framed
as undermining the position of Christianity in Pondichéry, Father Bouchet
and his brethren were making a claim for the Catholic nature of the colony
and positioning Nayiniyappa as a dangerous enemy of the faith and even the
French state. Examined from the Jesuit perspective, the gifting of the rosaries
dangerously juxtaposed non-Christian munificence and Christian practice. In
essence, Nayiniyappa was modeling for the town’s poor a powerful hybrid
alternative to what the Jesuits offered. Where the Jesuits tried to claim that
conversion entailed submission to the authority of the church and its agents,
Nayiniyappa offered a middle ground to avoid an irrevocable choice between
Christianity and non-Christianity. This, in Jesuit eyes, made him a dangerous
foe indeed.

Governor Hébert and the Politics of Governing

Pondichéry was administered by a governor appointed by the directors of
the Compagnie des Indes in Paris. The governor was accountable both to
company directors and, as in older, more established settings like Canada, to
the secretary of the navy. Between 1716 and 1723, a period that corresponds
exactly to that of the Nayiniyappa Affair, the governor would have been
accountable to the Naval Council, as a result of the regency system known
as the polysynody, in which councils replaced ministers. This system came
to an end with Louis XV’s majority and the appointment of the Comte de
Maurepas as naval minister, charged with management of the colonies.”” In
this period of administrative instability, colonial governance in Pondichéry
was similarly volatile.

If the Jesuits” attempts to remove Nayiniyappa from his post were of long
standing, the fact that Governor Hébert turned against his employee in 1716
was more unexpected. Governor Hébert had been the one to first appoint
Nayiniyappa to the position of chief broker, in 1708, and had repeatedly
rebuffed Jesuit requests to dismiss him. It is therefore surprising that when
Hébert returned to India in 1715 after several years in France, he became a
steadfast Jesuit ally and Nayiniyappa’s primary accuser. Almost immediately
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after securing a new appointment to India, under the new title of général de la
nation, he opened the investigation that resulted in Nayiniyappa’s conviction
and subsequent death.

Nayiniyappa’s appeal suggested that the alliance between Hébert and the
Jesuits was a startling change; it is indeed one of the most peculiar aspects of
the Nayiniyappa Affair. During his first term in India, Hébert was often at
cross-purposes with the Jesuit missionaries. In a letter he sent to the Jesuit
superior Tachard in 1708 Hébert offered a stern rebuke, demanding that the
Jesuits cease interfering in government affairs: “You are so accustomed to
meddling in the affairs of the company, notwithstanding the fact that I have
asked you repeatedly to leave us in peace,” he scolded. “You have often put
the previous governors in an awkward position with your importunities and
your constant threats of writing to the king, so that they were obliged to give
in to you in all matters.”® On another occasion the governor went so far as
to accuse Tachard of lying to him, saying that the Jesuit had come to him to
complain about various matters on twenty-five different occasions, yet every
time Hébert inquired into the matter he found that there was no truth to the
complaints.** Even the Missions étrangéres missionaries, who would become
some of Hébert’s harshest critics, came to the governor’s defense when the
Jesuits attacked him as a hindrance to Christianity in 1711. One MEP mis-
sionary in Pondichéry wrote that Father Tachard was sending extraordinary
libels against Governor Hébert back to France, bluntly describing the Jesuits’
complaints about the governor as lies, as part of their “disastrous plan to ruin
the reputation of this honest man.”%

When Hébert left Pondichéry after his first appointment ended, Duliv-
ier was installed as governor. However, when Hébert returned to India as
général de la nation, he was Dulivier’s superior.” Hébert objected to Dulivier’s
management of the colony in his absence. In a letter sent to Paris early in
1716, shortly after Hébert’s return to India, he complained that “since my
arrival . . . I found everything here in a state of disorder, due to the weakness
of M. Dulivier.” He described a colony that had run amok: “Everyone wants
to be the master, so there are as many governors as there are subjects.” In
a letter posted a few months later, Hébert presented a picture of a town rife
with internal tension and strife. According to Hébert, Dulivier did everything
possible to vex and annoy him, “goaded into this by people who seek only
trouble and division.”® Dulivier, on his end, wrote a letter to his supervisors
in Paris in which he described himself as “mortified” by the decision to send
Hébert back to India.”

Hébert linked his criticism of Dulivier to his own about-face in regard to
Nayiniyappa—the same man he had appointed to the highest-ranking post
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of any Indian in his government. He argued that Nayiniyappa had changed
his ways and had committed various crimes and evil deeds while Hébert was
away in France. He blamed Dulivier’s weakness as governor for exacerbating
Nayiniyappa’s misbehavior. Hébert also claimed that the broker had bribed
Dulivier to let him keep his job—a charge Nayiniyappa denied in his own
appeal.”!

Hébert wrote that he had received bad reports of Nayiniyappa soon after
his return from France and that these reports had surprised him. He had no
choice but to investigate Nayiniyappa: “Every day I received new complaints
from the inhabitants, I finally had to decide to have him arrested.” In Hébert’s
narrative, his decision to arrest the broker was a heroic and paternalistic act
of liberation for the town’s Indian population. “Right away all the tribes, or
castes as they are called here, came to see me in order to thank me, saying that
I had rescued them from the tiger [i.e., Nayiniyappa] that had destroyed and
devoured them with his great teeth.””*

Hébert’s letters provided few specifics to justify these metaphors. He men-
tioned that some said that Nayiniyappa was responsible for fomenting the
employee uprising of 1715. He cited the Jesuit claims that Nayiniyappa was
impeding Christian conversions. But he insisted that it was the people’s com-
plaints of Nayiniyappa’s “embezzlements, malpractices, and other crimes”
that had moved him to arrest the broker. “I can truthfully declare, as if
[ were about to appear before God, that the principal motivation that made
me decide to go to this extreme [of arresting Nayiniyappa] was the wish to
render justice to the people who submitted for so many years to the tyranny
of this miserable man.””

In this formulation, Nayiniyappa brought about his arrest through his
abuse of power. This abuse manifested itself in the cruel mistreatment of
the town’s Indian population, Hindu and Christian alike. Thus, in Hébert’s
view of the affair, Nayiniyappa’s crime represented a threat to the political
stability of the colony. His actions were presented as a challenge to French
sovereignty, and his arrest and conviction were an opportunity for Hébert
to affirm his sovereign role and cast himself in the role of a savior. French
authority, it appears, was a fragile proposition, a construct that could be com-
promised and required vigilant protection. The council members’ admission
in a letter penned several years before Nayiniyappa’s arrest that they did not
wish to dismiss the broker because he held “the key to all the company’s
secrets” reveals the dangerous dynamic at play. The letter acknowledged
that if the company fired Nayiniyappa and he chose to go live in a settle-
ment controlled by the Dutch, English, or Mughals, the consequences for
the company and the colony would be dire, since the advantage to the rival
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The letter went on to name specific examples of Tamil Christians who held
prominent positions in the company’s ranks, calling attention to the fact that
brokers, interpreters, and laborers at the docks were all related: “The most
important interpreter, the people who work on the waterfront assisting in
the reception and departure of merchandise . . . are all of this family.”**

As this description reveals, working as a commercial broker had immediate
benefits for members of one’s extended family, providing employment oppor-
tunities. The council’s premise that it was the family’s shared Christianity
that ensured them all jobs should not be taken at face value. Rather, it seems
just as likely that it was the familial association—regardless of confessional
standing—that would have made the jobs travel across and between genera-
tions of a single family, with one relative securing a position for another. The
fact that the Pillai family enjoyed similar benefits, despite its continued Hindu
practice, indicates as much.”

The Widow Guruvappa

The centrality of familial relations in the Nayiniyappa Affair is emblematic
of the centrality of family to colonial governance in French India. The bonds
between fathers and sons played a particularly visible role in the Nayiniyappa
Affair. But one Tamil woman, Guruvappa’s widow, made a surprising impres-
sion in the French record of the affair. The archives of the French colony refer
to her only as “the widow Guruvappa.” Her first name is never mentioned.’®
Her experience reminds us that the bonds of kinship could enable all kinds of
actors to advance their political, economic, and social agendas.

The correspondence of the widow Guruvappa with various colonial and
metropolitan French institutions in the 1720s demonstrates how family mem-
bers of Indian employees in Pondichéry were able to insert themselves into
the sphere of influence of the French establishment and to successfully make
claims on rights and rewards due to them by drawing on the language of
kinship. The fact that such claims could be made by a woman, one who was
illiterate in French and likely in Tamil as well and still repeatedly received
favorable hearing, is an indication that the Compagnie des Indes was willing,
and at times even eager, to draw extended familial networks into the complex
calculus of its decision making in the colony.”

In the years following her husband’s death in 1724, the widow Guruvappa
lobbied extensively to receive support from French institutions, writing to
the company’s directors, to the directors of the MEP seminary in Paris, and, it
seems safe to assume, also contacting the council in Pondichéry and the Mis-
sions étrangéres missionaries living in the colony.” In a letter to the seminary,
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is worth noting that both French and Tamil fathers and sons in the colony
used kinship for political aims. Kinship was not cordoned off by European
newcomers as a system that was primordial, immutable, or the domain of
so-called natives. Rather, the efficacy of kinship cut across different systems
of classifying relatedness, different religious affiliations, and different genders.
Even though French and Tamil inhabitants of Pondichéry held different con-
ceptual and practical understandings of familial relations, kinship was a shared
idiom and the foundation of many of their most productive encounters.
Scholarship on British India has shown how reliance on familial networks
greatly strengthened the hierarchical authority of British company officials
in South India while simultaneously providing subordinates with power over
local inhabitants.”® The example of French India is markedly different in that
working relations between French administrators and moneyed commercial
brokers, and between Jesuits and their catechists, did not allow for such clear
hierarchical distinctions. Affiliation with the French company or with mis-
sionaries did not necessarily entail subordination, and therefore French reli-
ance on local family networks did not always position European newcomers
as patrons. French trader-administrators, cognizant of their profound depen-
dence on local markets and patterns of familial obligation and patronage,
largely refrained from attempts to restructure or displace these patterns, as
was common in later colonial projects.

In the Nayiniyappa Affair and beyond it, the action and theory of kinship
were enmeshed within the practice of statecraft and bureaucracy, of com-
mercial transactions, and of religious conversion. In the colony, French
and Tamil families—both actual families and different conceptions of the
family—collided and colluded. Familial relations sustained, enhanced, and
shaped imperial projects in India.

A result of French reliance on local familial networks was that commercial
and spiritual dealings with the French did not necessarily entail alienation
from natal kin. On the contrary, the French desire to access such connections
could even lead to the strengthening of these ties, as professional go-betweens
and other local actors took advantage of these opportunities to bolster their
standing in their family circles. Local, mostly Tamil agents who came into
contact with the French at both the highest reaches of power and more hum-
ble spheres could leverage their employment by the French to strengthen
their position in natal and affinal networks by using their authority in the col-
ony to act as patrons and protectors. Such strengthening of kin ties was also
a result of French strategies of trade, conversion, and employment. French
officials, traders, and missionaries were all intensely aware of the importance
of local associations of kin and caste. In their hiring of local employees, they
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attempted to insert themselves and their interests into such networks, albeit
with only partial success.

The dependence on local familial networks was a site where trader-
administrators and missionaries articulated the persistent conflict between
projects of commerce and conversion. Religious and commercial agents took
different approaches to dealing with this dependence. Trader-administrators
were, by and large, comfortable with their reliance on the familial networks
that their brokers made accessible, being accustomed to traveling along sim-
ilar paths of advancement in French institutions. But Jesuits, while just as
dependent as the traders on the local entanglements of their employees, were
loath to accept this fact and instead attempted to provide an alternative kin
network for their converts.
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Portuguese to do his job, and Nayiniyappa described Portuguese as “a lan-
guage known to both the accused and the judge equally.”* The French were
by no means the only Europeans to rely on Portuguese to communicate with
South Asian employees and subjects. For example, after the Dutch conquered
Sri Lanka, they also used Portuguese to communicate with local inhabitants;
as late as 1757, during the Battle of Plassy, Robert Clive spoke with his native
troops in Portuguese.’ This policy changed over the course of the eighteenth
century; the presiding chief broker, Pedro, still testified before the Pondichéry
Council in Portuguese in 1729,° but later in the eighteenth century profes-
sional intermediaries regularly spoke French.”

Despite the long use of Portuguese between Nayiniyappa and his French
employers, throughout the interrogation the questioners addressed Nayini-
yappa in French, Manuel repeated the questions in Tamil, and the interroga-
tors made Nayiniyappa respond in Tamil. Forced to use a language that no
one in the room but Manuel understood, he answered very briefly in Tamil,
often responding to lengthy questions with an unelaborated yes or no. Nay-
iniyappa’s appeals described the use of French in the interrogation room as
a travesty: “They all had a common language, which is Portuguese. . . . The
accused clearly cried out that he had a natural right to use a language intel-
ligible to both the judge and the accused, and to the secretary, but they did
not want to listen to him. They decided to violate all rights. The investigation
continued as it had begun: the interpreter, a devotee of the accused’s enemies
[the Jesuits], interpreted as he wished, and the accused [Nayiniyappa] was
forced to sign that which he had neither heard, nor understood.”

Reliance on linguistic mediation performed by local employees had been
the norm in Pondichéry from its earliest days as a French colony in the late
seventeenth century and had by no means abated even after several decades
of French rule. By contrast with the policy of Francophonie of nineteenth- and
twentieth-century French empire, neither French traders nor missionaries in
India early in the eighteenth century pursued the goal of making French the
language most commonly spoken by the local inhabitants of Pondichéry. Like
many Indian locales, large swathes of metropolitan France,” and virtually all
colonies, Pondichéry was a polyglot city with a diverse and complex linguistic
economy, with linguistic registers of various value, purchase, and potential
for exchange.'” However, traders and missionaries had different responses to
this linguistic diversity: French officials adopted Portuguese, while French
missionaries sought to master Indian languages.

Frenchmen of the Old Regime, accustomed to a polyglot homeland rich in
languages and regional dialects, from Breton to Occitan, would have felt right
at home in India’s multilingual environment. French traders and missionaries
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and Hindus and merchants settled in Madras, Canton, and Siam and that it
admitted evidence in an array of languages indicates that it indeed served as
such a resource for a regional group of actors who were not subjects of the
French king but instead drew on the council as an available tool for the resolu-
tion of mostly civil disputes.

The second judicial institution in Pondichéry was the Chaudrie, a court
that was in place from the late seventeenth century until its dismantling in
1827. In the Chaudrie, French judges were meant to dispense justice accord-
ing to local modes of dispute resolution. The French traders who heard the
mostly civil disputes in this forum relied on local interpreters to hear the cases
and then ruled according to what they understood to be local custom.* As
Jean-Claude Bonnan has noted, the Chaudrie was neither a French import
nor an indigenous institution but rather an amalgamation of the two, with
the French taking over authority of an already existing institution, one whose
exact contours are unknown. Court records from the Chaudrie prior to 1766
have not survived, making it difficult to determine its practices and jurisdic-
tion in the early decades of the eighteenth century.

In the later French empire in North Africa, it was common practice for
Muslim courts of law to be folded into the French colonial state.”” While this
was not quite so common in the so-called First Empire of the seventeenth
and eighteenth century, Pondichéry’s Chaudrie is not the only example of
attempts to incorporate indigenous modes of dispute resolution into a for-
malized, French judicial institution, though it might be the most explicit
instance. Even if other colonies did not have the explicit two-tiered system
of French and “local” law as in the Sovereign Council and the Chaudrie,
French and indigenous forms of justice did meld together in other colonies.
Such judicial “middle ground,” as Richard White has termed it, was created
in the North American Great Lakes region known as the pays d’en haut.*®
In New France, historiography that has considered French and Amerindian
exchanges has shown how officials in Montreal also tried to incorporate
Indian modes of dispute resolution” and has highlighted the “normative
flexibility” of these legal exchanges in recognition of the agency of the hun-
dreds of Amerindians that appeared before the Québec courts up to 1760.*
In maritime Asia it was only with the political transformations of the nine-
teenth century that European practices and conceptions of law made serious
inroads; prior to that period, despite European presence, law continued to
develop “along what were essentially indigenous lines.”? The British exam-
ple is instructive for South Asia, since it was only in the nineteenth century
that the panchayat, or village council, was incorporated into the British colo-
nial legal system.”
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Since the Chaudrie did not hear Nayiniyappa’s case, the “native” court
played a marginal though not insignificant role in the Nayiniyappa Affair.
Nayiniayppa had spent time as an interpreter in the Chaudrie prior to his
appointment to the post of chief commercial broker; this role may have influ-
enced the language and arguments he employed in his appeals. Second, part
of Nayiniyappa’s punishment was fifty lashes of the chabouc (a kind of whip),
to be publicly given in the grand bazaar. Given that the Chaudrie was located
in the bazaar, the decision to whip Nayiniyappa there emphasized that this
punishment had the force of law. Most local inhabitants would have had no
occasion to ever visit the chambers of the Sovereign Council, where Nay-
iniyappa’s punishment was decided. But the Chaudrie was a jurisdiction to
which they were likely to be subject. By whipping Nayiniyappa in the home
of the Chaudrie, the council was sharing—after the fact—the jurisdiction over
Nayiniayppa with this companion legal venue and making his punishment
more exemplary.

Representation in Peril: Nayiniyappa’s Interrogations
and the Witness Testimonies

The first part of the judicial process against Nayiniyappa, following his arrest,
entailed the collection of witness testimonies against him and the interro-
gation of the broker himself. Both Nayiniyappa and the several dozen wit-
nesses who provided evidence in the case described this process as rife with
procedural error and collectively argued that they had not been allowed to
adequately inscribe their voices in the judicial archive.

Following Nayiniyappa’s arrest in 1716, Governor Hébert interrogated
him on seven different occasions, beginning one month after his arrest. There
are two records of these interrogations in the archives: transcripts recorded by
the council’s secretary and the description of these interrogations reproduced
in Nayiniyappa’s 1717 appeal.’’ Both accounts are of course highly mediated.
The actual exchanges between Nayiniyappa and Hébert were polylingual,
in Tamil, Portuguese, and French, while the archival record has all been
transposed into French. The text presents the exchanges between Hébert
and Nayiniyappa in the form of a dialogue between the two men, suggesting
they were the sole actors in the drama that unfolded in the council’s cham-
bers, although the interpreter, Manuel, and the secretary taking the notes, Le
Roux, were also present and active. The appeals in which Nayiniyappa and
others recounted these same interrogations are of course mediated by the
intention of the narrator—to contest the charges against the broker. While
neither version offers an unassailable account of exactly what transpired in
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the room, together they provide a view of the ways in which legal forms
inflected Nayiniyappa’s experience at court.

The transcript recounts lengthy questions on Hébert’s part and terse
responses on Nayiniyappa’s. Hébert’s questions were almost uniformly
replete with people’s names, place names, and information about the move-
ments and actions of local people. Nayiniyappa’s response was almost always
recorded as a terse “He said yes” or “He said no.” Occasionally the transcript
recounted that the broker said he knew nothing about a topic. This discur-
sive imbalance in the recorded text of the interrogation raises a question that
lingers over all court records and many other sources about their ability to
reflect the exchanges they describe. The legal historian Brian Owensby, in
his investigation into colonial court records in Mexico, has suggested that
the lacunae in colonial court records can be as revealing as the existing text.’”
Even if the inscription does not reflect the actual exchanges, the inscribed
format is itself revealing: in Nayiniyappa’s interrogation, the archival record
lets Hébert do all the talking.

Both records—the official transcription of the interrogations and the
description of them in Nayiniyappa’s appeal—agree that Nayiniyappa repeat-
edly denied all charge of wrongdoing. The format of the interrogation
allowed him to submit information not solicited from him, and the transcript
dutifully recorded this information. For example, he volunteered the infor-
mation that when the town’s residents came to consult with him about their
threat of abandoning the town in 1715, he had apprised Governor Dulivier
of the threat.”” In sharing this information, unsolicited, Nayiniyappa used the
interrogation as an opportunity to present evidence germane to his defense.

The transcript does reveal Nayiniyappa’s efforts to take exception to the
implicit assumption of guilt within some of Governor Hébert’s questions. For
example, the transcript of the sixth interrogation includes the question “Inter-
rogated why had he [Nayiniyappa] abused the authority bestowed on him by
his office, and carried out many injustices against the people of Pondichéry?”
Here a statement was posed as a question but rhetorically functioned as a per-
formative accusation and declaration of guilt. Nayiniyappa’s brief response, as
recorded, did not seek to answer the question but disputed its very premise:
“He said he did not do so.”**

The appeals describing Nayiniyappa’s interrogation included a run-
ning commentary on the questions asked of the broker and expanded on
his responses. For example, an account of one of his denials of wrongdoing
noted in approval that he “could not have responded any better.” In another
instance, the appeal’s authors complained that no witnesses for wrongdoing
were produced but then ironically added, “This is how truth and innocence
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express themselves.”” This running commentary on the interrogative text
reproduced in the appeals stood in stark contrast to the official record of the
investigation, in which Hébert’s long questions carried the bulk of the narra-
tive drive, with Nayiniyappa allowed only brief denials or affirmations.

“Language for the Mute, Eyes for the Blind”

Nayiniyappa asked for legal counsel in early 1716, soon after his arrest. As
in other colonial locales early in the eighteenth century, lawyers were not
allowed to practice in Pondichéry.” In Saint-Domingue, for example, law-
yers were banned until 1737, a ban resulting from a general view of lawyers
as being the source of judicial trickery and legal strife.”” Even in the French
metropole, lawyers were allowed to practice only in civil matters. Nayini-
yappa was not asking for a lawyer per se but for a counselor, someone who
would provide legal advice as the case was unfolding. This person could have
helped in drafting written arguments for submission before the council or
just consulted with Nayiniyappa in person outside the council’s chambers.”
If anyone was ever in need of legal counsel, wrote Nayiniyappa’s sons, it was
their father. The reasons for his need, they argued, were numerous: “He was
a foreigner [to the French system], he knew nothing of your laws, the accusa-
tions were interspersed with a large number of facts that merited discussion,
the accusers were for the most part his enemies, and Sieur Hébert was at
the same time a judge and an interested party.”** An adviser, the sons wrote,
would have helped Nayiniyappa navigate this difficult situation.
Nayiniyappa described himself as “a man of this land’s countryside” and
claimed that he was not familiar with the intricacies of French law.” He
stated that he did not understand “the language or the law.”* The problem
he identified was not simply a linguistic misunderstanding created by the use
of Portuguese but a misunderstanding of code, of the legal jargon and con-
ventions to which he was made subject. In an appeal Nayiniyappa sent to the
king after his conviction, he described a legal counselor as a man who could
provide “language for the mute, eyes for the blind. This [request for counsel]
was again refused, with the same barbarity. [Nayiniyappa] did not know the
laws, and asked for someone who knew them.”* He claimed to have been
shocked when this request was denied: “He thought that they could not
refuse him counsel, who would know the language, who would instruct him
in the formalities of the law, and who could help him prove his innocence.”*
The appeal called Hébert’s denial of the request “contrary to all justice.” As
a matter of law, Nayiniyappa’s request was well within his rights, since the
Criminal Ordinance of 1670 provided this right to external counsel to the
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accused.” Nevertheless, Nayiniyappa claimed, Governor Hébert, his son and
the Christian interpreter Manuel, “all flew into a terrible rage” upon hearing
this request.” Their response to Nayiniyappa’s demand for expert legal advice
was a violent one: “The general and his son silenced him, cursed him, spit in
his face.”*

Nayiniyappa argued that by being denied legal counsel, he was robbed of
the opportunity to understand and participate in the proceedings. As an inter-
mediary he was likely especially cognizant of one’s limited ability to represent
oneself without an expert go-between. He suggested that a similar denial of
comprehension and representation had taken place during the collection of
witness testimony against him, and many of the witnesses appear to have
agreed with him. Nayiniyappa’s appeals repeatedly assailed the veracity of the
witnesses, but he railed even more against the procedural irregularities the
testimonies occasioned. The large parade of local witnesses served a central
role both in Nayiniyappa’s conviction and in his appeals.

Before Nayiniyappa himself was ever questioned, Governor Hébert took
witness depositions from twenty-five Indian witnesses, with Manuel acting as
interpreter.” Given that Nayiniyappa did not admit wrongdoing, these tes-
timonies, attesting to his tyrannical behavior and abuse of the locals under
his authority, as well as accusations of financial wrongdoing and his involve-
ment in organizing the local workers” mass exodus of 1715, were crucial to
his conviction. Following the witness testimony, according to French legal
procedure, the witnesses were brought again before Hébert. Their testimony
was read back to them through the services of an interpreter, and they swore
to the truth of the testimony, in a process known as recollement.*®

Witnesses who had testified against Nayiniyappa were requestioned two
years later, following the Crown’s 1718 order to open an investigation into
Nayiniyappa’s conviction. Many of them claimed that they had signed their
depositions without knowing their contents. Nayiniyappa’s sons wrote in
their appeal that “every single witness stated that his testimony had not been
explained or read to him . . . that when someone made some resistance or
refused to sign, he was threatened . . . if something was written in their pres-
ence, they did not know what it was . . . and when the witnesses or Nanyapa
asked that something be read or explained to them, this was refused.”* Nay-
iniyappa used the very fact that the group of witnesses against him was large
and diverse to make the case that their testimonies could not be trusted. The
men who testified against him, he argued, were “insignificant and poor men”
and didn’t know the facts of the case. He argued that the division of local
society into castes meant they didn’t even know him. They knew only their
own castes and the caste chiefs who gave them their orders.” This argument
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seems far-fetched—all accounts, including Nayiniyappa’s own, make it clear
that the broker was an important personage in the colony’s daily life, and local
shopkeepers like the men in question would have known him by reputation
if not personally.

The French criminal legal code also required these witnesses to confront
Nayiniyappa. This process aimed to allow the accused a chance to defend
himself vis-a-vis each accusation, and the witnesses were made to claim own-
ership of the charge made. This procedure was routinely performed in cases
heard before the Sovereign Council and regularly granted to Tamil as well
as French defendants. The 1717 appeal’s account of one of interrogations
records that when the French governor asked Nayiniyappa if he had paid
the “mutinous residents” in the worker rebellion that took place in 1715, the
broker “loudly denied it, and demanded that witnesses to this fact be brought
before him. No witnesses.””" The only time witnesses were brought before
Nayiniyappa, according to his appeals, was during his seventh and last inter-
rogation. But even then they were not allowed to speak to him directly, as the
law called for—instead, the appeal alleged, they “spoke very quietly with the
judge,” thereby keeping secret what should have been shared.”

The Judges: Debating Rights and Justice

Conflicts over judgment of the affair reveal that debates over rights and justice
were key to the negotiation of authority between French colonists, missionar-
ies, and local go-betweens like Nayiniyappa. Much like Nayiniyappa and the
witnesses, the French judges who convicted him later pointed to irregularities
in the judicial process and claimed to be victims of irregular procedure.

The judges who decided Nayiniyappa’s case were members of the colony’s
Sovereign Council and therefore were Pondichéry’s most senior judicial and
administrative officials. They were all later excluded from serving on the 1718
commission that examined Nayiniyappa’s conviction.” In addition to Hébert,
four other councillors served as judges in the Nayiniyappa Affair: Flacourt,
Lorme, Legou, and La Morandiere, the man responsible for producing Nay-
iniyappa’s later appeal to the king (his role is discussed below). Hébert’s son
also attended the deliberations, but, with his low rank, he could not techni-
cally serve on the council. When these men were questioned in inquests in
December 1718 and January 1719, in the course of the reinvestigation of the
affair, all four stated that they had favored a much milder punishment for
Nayiniyappa than the one carried out.

One of the judges said that when the time came to decide Nayiniyappa’s
punishment, Hébert told them that the broker was an evil man and took
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out of his pocket a piece of paper on which the suggested sentence was writ-
ten: hanging, strangulation, enslavement of his children, and confiscation of
all his goods.” When all the other judges objected to this harsh sentence,
Hébert pulled out another preinscribed piece of paper, saying, “Gentlemen,
since this sentence doesn’t suit you, here is another one.” This paper detailed
a milder sentence of imprisonment, whipping, the payment of amends, and
banishment of Nayiniyappa’s children from the colony, which all but one of
the judges accepted.” This sentence would ultimately be carried out. Mul-
tiple accounts concur that one judge, Lorme, loudly objected, and his own
testimony stated that he acquiesced only after saying, “You gentlemen are
apparently of this opinion, but it is not my own.”*¢ La Prévostiére, who acted
as the king’s attorney (procureur général) in the case, suggested a fine be the
only penalty, and all four judges later said they would also have favored a fine
as the sole punishment.”” Hébert’s preparation of two alternative sentences
suggests he anticipated resistance from the other judges and perhaps used the
extreme punishment to make them more inclined to agree to the second one.
It remained to the judges to set the fine. Hébert, according to one judge’s
account, proposed a massive fine of 8,888 gold pagodas without providing
any accounts to justify the number.’®

Before Hébert and the other judges settled on Nayiniyappa’s punishment,
the Jesuits in town also tried to impact Nayiniyappa’s sentencing. The strug-
gle between Hébert and his fellow judges and the involvement of the mission-
aries in the question of the severity of Nayiniyappa’s sentence suggests how
violence was measured, debated, and negotiated in the context of colonial
officialdom. A petition submitted to the council by the Jesuit missionaries in
Pondichéry, Madurai, and the Carnatic mission and penned by the Jesuit supe-
rior Father Bouchet eight days before the procureur général made his sentenc-
ing suggestion supported and perhaps motivated the severe punishment.”
The Jesuits argued that Nayiniyappa had caused great harm to their mission
and acted as the “Restorer and Protector” of idolatry in the colony.®® His
crimes, in the Jesuits’ eyes, were long-standing. They accused Nayiniyappa of
previously “conserving the abominable pagoda of Lingam,” referring here to
the Vedapuri Ishwaran Temple in Pondichéry, which the Jesuits had repeat-
edly attempted to shutter or tear down in the first decades of the century. In
addition, the Jesuits argued that Nayiniyappa had undermined their efforts to
convert Indians and over many years had “rendered useless the work of the

missionaries in the backcountry.”®!

The letter framed Nayiniyappa’s punish-
ment as a preemptive and protective measure, not simply a matter of retri-
bution: “There is not a single person in Pondichéry who doesn’t think that

Nainiapa wants to take vengeance on the missionaries, whom he considers
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the authors of his misfortunes, and he will make every effort to harm the
[Christian] religion if he is granted his liberty,” Bouchet argued. He also
asked that the council keep secret the Jesuits’ request to hold Nayiniyappa in
prison.”” Here the Jesuits revealed that they feared Nayiniyappa’s wrath and
that of his allies, even as he was imprisoned. Without quite admitting their
own role in his persecution, they suggested the broker might believe they had
aided his enemies. This fear was further acknowledged by their next request:
that Nayiniyappa and other gentiles (non-Christians) in town never be told
that the Jesuits had made this petition to keep him imprisoned.

Punishing Nayiniyappa became a means of protecting the Jesuits’ own
safety and position in Pondichéry and beyond. Historians of the colonial
world have argued that violence against colonial subjects, such as the punish-
ment that the council inflicted on Nayiniyappa, was an integral part of the rule
of law rather than an aberration opposed to it.”” The Jesuits’ petition never
to release Nayiniyappa from his prison reveals that the amount of violence
meted out was in direct proportion to the importance and position of colonial
actors. That is, the powerful required a larger measure of violence so as to
balance the ledger of authority.

Precedent would have backed the more moderate punishment all the
other judges except Hébert and the king’s attorney had in mind. The most
serious accusation against Nayiniyappa was sedition, premised on the
notion that he had brought about the mass exodus of Indian inhabitants in
1715. Yet when the merchant Nalachetty was convicted in 1704 of having
“seduced the inhabitants of this city to go live elsewhere,” he paid amends
of only twelve pagodas and received a warning that if it happened again,
he would be punished more severely.* While the greater investment of
trust the company had put in Nayiniyappa might have supported a slightly
harsher punishment, the difference was extreme. Nayiniyappa’'s similar
alleged crime brought upon him punishment in many orders of magnitude
greater: the prison term, public whipping, huge fine, and perpetual banish-
ment from the town.

The severity of this punishment testified to the threat the broker posed.
After all, he could simply have been dismissed, even made to leave Pondi-
chéry. Instead, he was stripped of all his wealth and was flogged at the most
public locale in the city, the main bazaar. As his brutal public punishment
demonstrates, Nayiniyappa’s very success as a broker made him a viable
threat and thus necessitated his complete destruction. The public aspect of
the punishment was a crucial feature of it, at least according to the account
provided by Nayiniyappa’s sons. When Hébert and his son threatened Nayini-
yappa in the course of his interrogation, it was this feature of his humiliation
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that they highlighted, by taunting him thus: “Where are your supporters
now, your patrons who will save you from the whipping we will give you
tomorrow, after we bring you in shackles in front of everyone, to the middle
of the market?”® Of course we cannot know if this exchange took place as
the sons reported it, but it was their father’s public annihilation that the sons
protested. The fact that the whipping took place in the Tamil section of town
also meant that the audience witnessing Nayiniyappa’s punishment would
have been composed of both his peers and his former subordinates, thereby
making his humiliation and mortification all the more complete.

In the course of deciding his punishment, the judges had Nayiniyappa
brought before them. Hébert briefly questioned the prisoner “on three or
four matters,” as one of the appeals stated.* Before the judges, Nayiniyappa
again denied any wrongdoing. On this occasion, the same day on which
final judgment was rendered, La Morandiere remembered that Nayiniyappa
turned away from Hébert to face the silent judges directly, saying, ““Mes-
sieurs, I have never stolen from the company, nor done it any harm.” The
judge recalled that Hébert fils responded, using the familiar second person tu:
“You are a thief, we know you well.”*

The judge Flacourt admitted that he signed the severe judgment only
because “seeing the others sign, he signed out of fear of causing problems
for himself with Hébert.”*® La Morandiére and Lorme similarly claimed that
they went with the majority in part because they feared retribution. Yet the
official text of Nayiniyappa’s sentencing revealed none of the judges’ debates
about the severity of the punishment. Only the subsequent inquest revealed
these had occurred.” Although the transcript of the interrogations provides
no confession by Nayiniyappa, the sentencing document claims that he con-
fessed under questioning.”

Like several Tamil witnesses, French members of the Superior Council
claimed that Hébert and his allies had intimidated, manipulated, and coerced
them, even though these were some of the most powerful and influential
men in the colony. One of Nayiniyappa’s appeals refers to these claims when
it condemns Hébert as a “perverse and bad judge.””" Hébert’s means of com-
pelling the compliance of each of the judges was to address each of them
separately, asking for their opinion in a low voice.”” Two judges said he actu-
ally whispered in their ears.”” While this does not directly explain why they
did not speak more loudly in response, it makes clear that Hébert had the
power to manipulate the judges, even as they claimed to be united against
him. Whisper and conquer. Even in a room shared by French-speaking men,
comprehension could be muddied, and a whisper served the same goal as an
unfamiliar language. Not knowing that they in fact were in agreement with
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one another, or so they at least claimed after the fact, the judges were more
easily intimidated into complying with Hébert’s wishes.

The 1720 appeal by Nayiniyappa’s sons emphasized Hébert’s manipulation
in addition to many other procedural violations, stating that the governor
“fooled all the judges, by persuading them that the sentence they had signed
was passed by a majority.””* Further, Hébert had “abused the credulity of the
judges. .. and made them sign a judgment contrary to their opinion,” thereby
positioning them as victims as much as Nayiniyappa.” The appeal absolved
the judges and Nayiniyappa alike and positioned Hébert as the true culprit.

In fact, most of the other judges and the procureur général had preexisting
conflicts with Hébert, explaining perhaps why they so quickly turned against
him once an inquiry into the Nayiniyappa Affair began. In 1711 Hébert had
ordered the removal of Flacourt from his position as chief of the French out-
post in Bengal. On the very same day he described La Prévostiére, who was
procureur général during the affair, as one who “reveals the secrets of the Com-
pany and has risen up against his superior, by spreading various calumnies
about him in all the homes in Pondichéry.””® Hébert would later claim that
La Prévostiére had maligned him during the affair because of this enmity and
claimed, “Everyone in Pondichéry knows that [La Prévostiére] is my sworn

enemy.””’

Factionalism at Court: Nayiniyappa’s
French Advocates and Adversaries

The decision to convict Nayiniyappa gave rise to a struggle over this con-
viction between various factions in the colony’s commercial and religious
institutions. As the battle lines were drawn for and against him, the affair
became the ground for missionaries and traders with incommensurable inter-
ests to articulate their view about the direction in which the colony should
head. This conflict was expressed either in the appeals that agitated for Nay-
iniyappa’s exoneration on the one hand or in letters that reiterated his guilt
on the other.

Company Traders as Legal Advocates

While Nayiniyappa was not allowed to consult with anyone during his inter-
rogation, multiple Frenchmen assisted him in the writing and distribution of
his appeals after his conviction. None were trained legal professionals, but
they were powerful traders employed by the company. Nayiniyappa’s first
appeal, dated 1716 and translated into French from Portuguese, gave only



110 THE UNFOLDING OF THE AFFAIR

a few details of the interrogations. Father Tessier, the MEP missionary in
Pondichéry, may have assisted Nayiniyappa in the translation from Portu-
guese. The missionary’s letter dated August 1716 complained about Nayini-
yappa’s treatment by the Héberts and noted that “M. de Sault [a Parisian
agent who assisted in the distribution of Nayiniyappa’'s appeal] has all the
necessary documents in hand”; it suggests at least that Tessier actively sup-
ported the broker.”

It was Nayiniyappa’s subsequent appeals that most benefited from the help
of French company employees. His most important French ally was a French
trader named Nicolas Francois Le Noutre de La Morandiére. He was one of
the judges who convicted Nayiniyappa and subsequently was a coauthor of
several of the appeals submitted in the affair, by both Nayiniyappa and his
partners Tiruvangadan and Ramanada. La Morandiére’s position surely gave
him a privileged view into the proceedings that had led to the conviction and
therefore helped him collaborate on the text of the appeals. La Morandiére
did not initially acknowledge the collaboration, but in a letter Hébert sent to
the directors in Paris on January 14, 1719, he blamed La Morandiére for his
involvement, and La Morandiére himself acknowledged it in a letter written
just ten days later to the directors.”

La Morandiére wrote that he had immersed himself in the task of submit-
ting appeals and requests on behalf of Indians who had been harmed by Gov-
ernor Hébert. “For almost five months,” he wrote, “I had to devote myself
to the Indians’ affairs, always busy with writing requests for people who
had been crushed by M. Hébert and were asking for recompense from [the
Compagnie des Indes].”® He explained that he was driven to act on behalf of
the oppressed Indians because of the Héberts™ “tyrannical oppressions™ and
“insatiable avarice” and the extent to which their wrongdoing was harmful
to the rule of the French company. Writing the appeals, he added, was a way
to shed light on the true culprit—Hébert—thereby protecting the interests
of the company, which would otherwise be held responsible. As a result of
his efforts as the author of these appeals, he argued, “the Indians received
justice and remain here content, calm is reestablished in the city, and all
is returned to the same order which always reigned under previous gov-
ernments.”®' La Morandiére’s description of a previous calm and order was
clearly revisionist—Pondichéry had been in a state of one kind of political
turmoil or another since the French returned to it in 1699. Yet in his account,
the dispensation of justice to local inhabitants in the Nayiniyappa Affair was a
means to return to a lost utopia of accepted French rule, even if such utopia
was always a mirage.

La Morandiére had served as company bookkeeper at the rank of sous-
marchand, but just on the cusp of the Nayiniyappa affair, the Superior Council
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accepted his request for a promotion to the rank of merchant and appointed
him a councillor. It was in this role that he would serve as a judge in Nayini-
yappa’s case—signing on to a verdict he would later renounce. But this promo-
tion was short-lived. In the margin of the very same decree that recounted the
swearing in of La Morandiére to the council, the following undated comment
appeared, describing the reversal of the appointment: “Since the reception
[into the council] of the said La Morandiére, his conduct has appeared so
opposed to the interests of the company . . . and we have received several
complaints. We have removed the said La Morandiére from the position of
merchant and councillor, and in addition have barred him from taking on any
other role.”®* Hébert likely penned the comment, as he signed the decree. The
removal it describes took place on September 15, 1716, while Nayiniyappa
was in the process of appealing his conviction. The conduct “so opposed to
the interests of the company” was almost certainly La Morandiére’s support
of Nayiniyappa.

In two letters sent to Paris, penned in January 1719, La Morandiere’s
described the principles that guided him in writing complaints on behalf of
Nayiniyappa and his family and associates, revealing in the process his sophis-
ticated understanding of the law.* He understood his role in the appeals as
providing proper legal representation previously denied. He stated that he
“conformed to the styles of advocates who composed requests in France to
present before the king,” mindful of the consequences and the importance of
the truth. He also critiqued earlier versions of the appeals, arguing that they
had “been composed based on a badly done translation of manifestos in Por-
tuguese that the Indians had sent to France.”® In an appeal sent by the sons,
with La Morandiére’s help, in 1718, they described the earlier texts submitted
by Nayiniyappa as sorely lacking because of the circumstances of their com-
position. Those appeals had been “composed while he was ill, and in haste in
his prison cell.”®

Far from renouncing his role in rendering the judgment against Nay-
iniyappa, La Morandiere highlighted his involvement in the affair and
his qualifications as someone who knew the events the appeal described
in greater depth than any other advocate might. Taking on the role of
improving the overly simple appeals first filed against Hébert, explained
La Morandiére, was a matter of both justice and duty.** He wrote that his
rewriting of the appeals entailed a significant transformation of the texts,
since the first appeal Nayiniyappa submitted in 1716 to the Compagnie
des Indes and the king “did not express more than a tenth of the things”
relevant to his case.”

La Morandiére described how he had revised the initial appeal presented
by Tiruvangadan, Nayiniyappa’s business associate and relative, who was also
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arrested. Tiruvangadan’s first appeal, written without La Morandiére’s help,
simply mentioned that Hébert the younger owed Tiruvangadan 1,022 pago-
das, the local gold coin. “But my [text] added a fact,” explained La Morandiére,
“which this Malabar and almost all of Pondichéry did not know.” This added
fact was the claim that Hébert pére had approached the Jesuit Father Turpin
and secretly conspired with him to arrest Tiruvangadan for being a bad Chris-
tian who had assisted in a “procession of a demon and adoration of idols.”
This was done, explained La Morandiére, to cover up the fact that Hébert
the younger owed Tiruvangadan money and disregarded the fact that the
Indian was not, and never had been, a Christian.®® La Morandiére found a
record of these secret exchanges between the Jesuit and Governor Hébert by
going through the records of the council’s proceedings, exploiting his privi-
leged access to company records. The Indian claimants would never have had
knowledge of these alleged machinations to blacken Tiruvangadan’s repu-
tation, since the contrived charge against him was never actually brought
forward.*

La Morandiére also claimed to have strengthened the legal appeal of
Ramanada, Nayiniyappa’s business associate who was arrested alongside him.
Ramanada’s first appeal, explained La Morandiere, had ascribed all the blame
for his arrest to the Jesuits. It argued that the Fathers of the Society were angry
because Ramanada served as an informant on local religious practice to the
Jesuits rival, the MEP missionary Father Tessier. The information provided
by Ramanada was in turn used in the course of the ongoing Malabar Rites
controversy, a struggle between Jesuits in the East and the church hierarchy
in Rome, regarding the Jesuit practice of accommodating local cultural prac-
tices among their converts. The Jesuits’ local missionary rivals, the Capuchins
and the representative of the MEP, opposed the use of the Malabar Rites,
claiming that such accommodation diluted Christianity and made for bad
converts. In the context of the Nayiniyappa Affair, the Malabar Rites contro-
versy underlay much of the hostility between the Jesuits and other missionary
groups in the Tamil region.”

But it was a mistake, suggested La Morandiere, to situate Ramanada’s
arrest only in the context of his involvement in the Malabar Rites controversy,
as an informant for the MEP missionary. Instead, La Morandiére’s text offered
a fuller account of the agendas driving Ramanada’s persecution. He argued
that Hébert exhibited a “veritable passion” against Ramanada, which origi-
nated with Ramanada and Nayiniyappa’s involvement in bringing an end to
a scheme to raise taxes that would have been extremely profitable to Hébert.
This fact, wrote La Morandiere, reflected badly on Hébert. Since he was
seeking vengeance, his actions against the Indians were a “real crime.” La
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Morandiéere’s change to the appeal, which added all this background informa-
tion, transformed it from a matter of religious squabbling between two Cath-
olic missionary groups to an issue of political and commercial malfeasance.

While Nayiniyappa, Tiruvangadan, and Ramanada had ongoing profes-
sional and commercial relations with the French, they could not match La
Morandiére’s insider status and his access to the official and sometimes secret
record of the colonial government’s doings. Because of this access, his legal
appeals were more densely evidentiary than anything they could have pre-
sented themselves. For example, the 1717 appeal he coauthored incorporated
the record of the seven interrogations of Nayiniyappa and used it to make
the case that the interrogators had coerced and intimidated Nayiniyappa.

Acting as an advocate for the Indians involved in the Nayiniyappa Affair
put La Morandiére in a very awkward position, as he himself acknowledged,
since he had to “lift his pen against many men about whom it was not my
place to complain.” While he could count Hébert an enemy, complaining
about him implicated the directors in Paris, who had appointed Hébert, and
this was politically dangerous. The trader noted “that the requests of an advo-
cate are not orders [arréts], and these requests are not always granted to the
parties for whom he pleads.” He wrote that it was difficult but necessary to
his sense of justice to write “against people whom one venerates, and whom
it is a pleasure to serve”—that is, the directors.”

La Morandiére’s advocacy was wide-ranging and was likely driven in some
measure by his conflicts with Governor Hébert and a desire to see a change in
the colony’s leadership. In addition to his appeals on behalf of Nayiniyappa,
Tiruvangadan, and Ramanada, he was responsible for crafting some on behalf
of a scribe imprisoned for refusing to provide false testimony against Nay-
iniyappa, a merchant wrongly treated by the council, and a local Christian
who had been mistreated by the Jesuits, all of whom he claimed were victims
unfairly swept up in the Nayiniyappa Affair.”*

La Morandiére was not the only Frenchman who took an active role in
advocating for the Indians. Shortly after Nayiniyappa’s conviction in May of
1716, the French trader Cuperly also wrote impassioned letters to France on
Nayiniyappa’s behalf.” Cuperly was a member of Pondichéry’s French elite,
as the nephew through marriage of the colony’s venerated first governor,
Frangois Martin. Like many of Nayiniyappa’s advocates, Cuperly centered
his complaints around procedural issues, claiming Hébert had taken on too
many different positions in the course of the affair. Referring to Manuel’s
connections with the Jesuits—"the son of the Jesuits™ catechist, Naniyapa’s
cruelest enemy”—he claimed that the translator had interpreted according to
his intentions and not according to justice.” He likewise argued that Hébert
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had suborned the witnesses, who were exacting retribution for past wrongs,
and he decried the council’s failure to allow Nayiniyappa to face his accus-
ers. Ironically he described the prosecution as “this beautiful procedure.”””
The final French trader who might have participated in the preparation of
the appeals was Hébert’s rival, Dulivier, the man who preceded him as gov-
ernor and was displaced by Hébert’s return to India. Hébert accused him of
agitating on the convicted Indians’ behalf.”® Indeed, Dulivier sent the Marine
Council a lengthy complaint about Hébert’s misdeeds and mistreatment of
Nayiniyappa, Tiruvangadan, and Ramanada.”

Missionaries and the Law

Missionaries in Pondichéry also used the legal arena to act out their rivalries
and conflicts, both with the French colonial state and with one another. After
all, as Dale Van Kley has noted of the Old Regime, “religious matters are only
metaphysically distinguishable from constitutional and jurisdictional ones
during this entire period.”'® Several French missionaries in India joined the
appeal effort in the Nayiniyappa Affair. Even as the Jesuits were writing peti-
tions asking that Nayiniyappa be severely punished, the head of the Missions
étrangeres mission in Pondichéry was writing letters to France vigorously
defending him. Nayiniyappa’s fate became a new battleground in the ongo-
ing strife and power struggle between the Jesuits and the other missionaries
in town. Father Tessier, who headed the MEP outpost in Pondichéry, wrote
to his superiors in Paris the summer after Nayiniyappa’s conviction. In his
first letter, he described Hébert and his son as being “the instruments of the
Jesuits’ vengeance.”'”' He argued that the persecution of Nayiniyappa was to
be abhorred not only because of the price paid by the man itself but because a
reputation for injustice harmed the colony as a whole: “Pondichéry has truly
come to be viewed with horror by all the nations, and no one wants to come
here,” he warned. Any appeal to the Héberts for justice would be pointless,
he wrote, since “nothing restrains them, neither justice, nor conscience, nor
honor, nor religion.”'

The judicial record shows that missionaries regularly and actively partici-
pated in the colony’s legal arena. Not only did they make regular appear-
ances before Pondichéry’s court, they also made an effort to shape and direct
legal proceedings. In some cases this reflected an interest in local law: Father
Bouchet, who was the Jesuit superior in Pondichéry at the time of the Nayini-
yappa Affair, had himself authored a text on local practices of dispute resolu-
tion in 1714.'” In the course of the Nayiniyappa Affair, the Jesuits attempted
to shape legal proceeding more directly, although they tried to conceal their
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interference. That they played a role in the collection of witness testimonies
(as chapter 2 explained) and in the sentencing of Nayiniyappa—a process in
which they had no official capacity whatsoever—demonstrates the extent
to which they were embedded in the processes of colonial rule and judicial
action.

The French missionaries in India held a complicated position with respect
to judicial authority. French missionaries in Pondichéry fell under the eccle-
siastic authority of the bishop of Mylapore, who was appointed by and acted
under the auspices of the Portuguese Padroado in India.'™ Yet the French Jesu-
its arrived in the East as emissaries of the French king and therefore acted by
his authority, not that of the Padroado, and the Pondichéry Superior Council
had judicial authority over them in secular matters. Both Capuchin missionar-
ies and the MEP procurateur also fell under the authority of the French king in
his role as the head of the Gallican Church. Pope Gregory XV had also tried to
exert authority over missionaries abroad when in 1622 he created the Sacred
Congregation for the Propagation of the Faith (Propaganda Fide), which
sought to centralize the oversight of missionary work. French missionaries
in South India thus occupied a special position and had to maneuver between
rival lay and religious institutions invested in their mission. Disagreements
among missionaries about strategies of conversion in the colonial mission
field only rendered this politically fraught negotiation more complex.

While during the Nayiniyappa Affair the Jesuits took on a prosecutorial
role, a much more common involvement for missionaries of all orders in
French India occurred when they appeared before the Superior Council as
claimants or defendants. Missionaries came before the Superior Council for
various reasons, usually involving property or financial disputes of the kind
brought before the council by many of the colony’s residents. Occasionally
missionaries” appearances in the judicial records were more clearly a result
of their religious position and were evidence of rupture or discord, as in the
repeated discussion of the struggle over the Malabar Rites controversy, which
largely played out in the religious arena with papal bulls and missionary mis-
sives but occasionally came before the secular court of Pondichéry.'” The
involvement of the council in this struggle between the Capuchins and the
Jesuits about the incorporation of local cultural practices into the lives of
Christian converts also suggests the intermingling of the political, religious,
and legal domains in the colony.

This intermingling had lately brought the council into conflict with the
Vatican. As part of the Vatican’s attempts to settle the Malabar and Chinese
Rites Controversy, a papal legate, Thomas Maillard de Tournon, patriarch of
Antioch, was sent to the East. Pondichéry was his first port of call. The council
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warned that before making any pronouncements that might be “prejudicial
to the laws of His Majesty or his subjects,” Tournon must present them to
the council of Pondichéry and the procureur général for authorization and
modification “for the benefit of the public and the maintenance of the state’s
laws and practices.”'* Tournon’s failure to comply with this order when he
published in 1704 a declaration against the practice of accommodation led
the council to declare that apostolic visitors seeking entry to French India
and the Indian Ocean island colonies must have the express permission of the
French king. They also renewed their demand to review any decisions and
pronouncements such papal visitors might make.'”” Such conflicts between
papal authority and the French Crown had, of course, a long metropolitan
history, culminating in the creation of the Gallican Church headed by the
French king in 1682. The council’s already tenuous hold on authority in the
colonial context only sharpened these struggles. Given the Compagnie des
Indes’s repeated difficulties in asserting its sovereignty over non-Christian
subjects, who threatened to pick up and leave whenever their religious liber-
ties were compromised, the council perceived the dicta to abandon the Mala-
bar rites and the disregard of council directives as a threat to the colony’s
viability.

On occasion, the Catholic missionaries themselves brought their doctri-
nal conflicts into the chambers of the Superior Council for resolution—or at
least an airing out. In February 1712, four years before Nayiniyappa’s arrest,
the Jesuit superior Father Bouchet approached the council with a grievance
about declarations that Capuchins and their supporters in India had made.
His grievance hinged on the issue of legal jurisdiction. A Capuchin mission-
ary had accused one of the Jesuits of an infraction against the papal ban on
the Malabar Rites. The Capuchin brought the complaint before a religious
tribunal headed by the bishop of San Thomé. The Capuchin had bolstered
his case with the testimony of multiple Indians “before the secular judges of
this city”—that is, the Superior Council.'” The borders between religious and
secular jurisdiction were porous.

Father Bouchet claimed that the Indian’s testimony against the Jesuits
was false. He demanded the court bring before the court one of the false
witnesses: “Ramanaden, Malabar of this city and agent of the premier court-
ier of the Royal Company.”'” This was the very same Ramanada who was
Nayiniyappa’s close business associate and later was arrested alongside Nay-
iniyappa. Bouchet blamed Nayiniyappa for Ramanada’s damaging testimony
against the Jesuits. He claimed that “the ascendance in this town of this first
courtier of the company, who through his office is the head of the Mala-
bars,” made him all too powerful. Bouchet argued that accusing the Jesuits
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of wrongdoing harmed the neophyte Christians in the colony more broadly
and that the council must protect them from such injustice."® The council
decreed that Bouchet and the other Jesuits should present all the documents
and accusations they wished to press against Ramanada and his associates—
again, a reference to Nayiniyappa.''' Several years before Nayiniyappa was
arrested, then, he and the Jesuits were already in conflict before the colony’s
court.

Another incident just prior to Nayiniyappa’s arrest likewise demonstrated
the missionaries’ consciousness of the council’s authority over their reputa-
tion. When the Superior Council convened on November 4, 1715, it discussed
a request by the Capuchin missionaries in the town for certificates of good
behavior—documents attesting to the fact that they had “never caused nor
created any scandal during the time that they had served the chapel of this fort
and as missionaries under the auspices of the company.”''? The Capuchins,
in explaining the need for this certificate, cited various “calumnies” brought
in France against them. While they did not specifically name the Jesuits, the
ongoing enmity between the two orders in French India meant they were
most likely the unnamed defamers. The council considered the request and
acquiesced by providing a document declaring that the Capuchins had “never
caused any scandal or provided a bad example” and that on the contrary, they
had always led exemplary and pious lives.'"

The Jesuits also had some experience appearing as defendants before the
Pondichéry court prior to the Nayiniyappa Affair. In 1707, the procureur général
filed suit against the Jesuits, in a land dispute between the company and the
missionaries."* A lengthy exchange between the superior of the Jesuits, Father
Tachard, and the procureur général ensued, with decrees and responses flying
back and forth.'” The council ordered that trees the Jesuits had planted—a
mark of property ownership—be razed to the ground.''* Clearly, this was an
acrimonious legal encounter. On occasion the Jesuits also appeared before the
council in a powerful position, as in the 1720 discussion of the loans the mis-
sionaries had extended to the perpetually cash-strapped company.'” Overall,
the judicial records of the first few decades of the eighteenth century reveal
that missionaries both drew on the council for legal support and were at times
willing subjects of its jurisdiction. During the Nayiniyappa Affair, the Jesuits’
explicit intervention in matters of law was an attempt to insert themselves
into the highest reaches of the colony’s governance.

Following a lengthy and detailed investigation, in the course of which offi-
cials in both India and France considered and debated Nayiniyappa’'s multiple
appeals, the council overturned his conviction in Pondichéry on January 20,
1719."® Nayiniyappa had by that point been dead for two years. The presiding
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procureur général, Pierre Dumas, signed the decision, which referenced mul-
tiple inquiries and inquests into the original interrogations and conviction.
Dumas stated, “I conclude that the case made against Nayiniyappa by sieur
Hébert is declared void, as is the judgment that was the outcome of this case.”
The decision called for the restitution of all profits from the sale of Nayini-
yappa’s goods to his heirs, the exact details of which were to be determined
in France by the king’s council.'”

News that Nayiniyappa’s name had been cleared spread quickly in the
Tamil region. A letter written shortly thereafter by Nayiniyappa’s advocate La
Morandiére to the directors in Paris described a town in a celebratory mood:

The government had scarcely been in the hands of M. La Prévosti¢re
when a large number of Indians who had left for Moorish lands in order
to put themselves out of reach of the violence of M. Hébert, returned
to Pondichéry. They already knew of the order it had pleased his Maj-
esty to give in favor of Nainappa, Tiruvangadan, and Ramanada, and
they assumed, with reason, that his Majesty’s justice would similarly be
offered to them as to the three Indians who had the happy experience

of bringing their complaints before his Majesty’s tribunal.'*’

Indeed, the governor who replaced Hébert, La Prévostiére, warmly
received the returning residents. French officials even entertained the idea
of some jubilant fanfare—a ceremony, a shooting of the cannons, perhaps
making the king’s order known to the sound of trumpets—but Governor
La Prévostiére judged that such celebrations would alienate Frenchmen who
had served alongside Hébert, many of whom were still filling important roles
in the colony.'”! In the end, after all the battles, the hundreds of pages of tes-
timonies, appeals and deliberations, and much unlike the very public punish-
ment Nayiniyappa had endured, his exoneration was a quiet affair.

The Nayiniyappa Affair unfurled almost entirely in one legal forum, French
India’s highest court, and was then appealed through the proper metropolitan
channels. The broker and his allies immersed themselves in the legal system,
with its metropolitan contours, and in so doing successfully adapted, adopted,
and co-opted that very system. The forums were not multiple, but the legal
strategies were quite varied: appeals in India and in France, formal appeals by
the convicted men (Nayiniyappa, Tiruvangadan, and Ramanada), informal
letters of support by both traders and missionaries, and evidentiary docu-
ments sent across the seas. Yet as Nayiniyappa and his allies engaged the legal
system, in their success was enfolded an implicit critique of French colonial
implementation of the legal system.
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If Nayiniyappa’s interrogation and conviction reflected the legal nature of
imperial authority, his and his supporters’ ultimately successful appeals dem-
onstrate that the colonial state was porous, open to manipulation, and had
multiple and sometimes contradictory nodes of decision making. Colonial
legal institutions were, to a great extent, recently congealed resources and
practices rather than established institutions. Both French and Tamil actors
performed power and authority through arguments about proper procedure.
Claims of ignorance and lack of knowledge, as much as those of knowledge
and experience, could form the basis for these performances, as both Nay-
iniyappa and his judges demonstrated. At a time of instability in a young
colony, where friction about which kinds of order, authority, and morality
were going to prevail, various actors made claims for proper procedure in an
attempt to determine what such order would actually entail. Both sides won,
and both sides lost, with the tools and procedures of the judicial arena. Ulti-
mately, though, the decision was made not in terms of the law. The verdict
was overturned because the law allowed the economic and political interests
at play to be expressed.

An account of the legal aspects of the Nayiniyappa Affair reveals that colo-
nial subjects demanded legal cohesion from their position in the colonies,
thereby revealing the tensions of imperial rule. Law in French India provided
indigenous and European actors alike an opportunity to participate in a global
endeavor on which local agendas bestowed meaning. Colonial subjects like
Nayiniyappa could simultaneously expose the lack of cohesion in the French
legal system and make a claim for equality under the same law. The affair’s
evolution exemplifies the heterogeneity and friction of the moment of legal
encounter in overseas France.

The Nayiniyappa Affair reminds us that even though judicial institutions
were an arm of the colonial state, we should not assume that the decisions
made in these institutions always and inevitably favored the agenda of that
state, since indigenous actors were able “to utilize the judiciary to achieve
their own ends,” as Niels Brimnes has argued.'” The legal aspects of the
Nayiniyappa Affair also show the extent to which missionaries in Pondichéry
were involved at every level of decision making in the colony, even in arenas,
like the judicial one, in which they ostensibly had no role. The Jesuits, who
pushed for Nayiniyappa’s arrest and subsequent punishment, and the MEP
missionaries who advocated for his rehabilitation all moved with ease in the
legal realm.

In his account of France of the Old Regime, Alexis de Tocqueville noted,
“The practice of the law courts had entered in many ways into the pattern of
French life. Thus the courts were largely responsible for the notion that every



120 THE UNFOLDING OF THE AFFAIR

matter of public or private interest was subject to debate and every decision
could be appealed from; as also for the opinion that such affairs should be
conducted in public and certain formalities observed.”'” The Nayiniyappa
Affair shows the extent to which France’s colonies were equally entangled in
a legal regime that, while capable of being used for personal or institutional
gain and manipulated by individual actors through intimidation and persua-

sion, was also open to appeal.









CHAPTER 5

Between Paris and Pondichéry

Nayiniyappa was already dead when his eldest
son, Guruvappa, made his way from India to Paris in an attempt to reclaim his
father’s reputation and riches. Guruvappa was tremendously successful in the
metropolitan capital: he was baptized as a Christian in the chapel of the royal
family, powerful royals served as his godparents (or so at least ran the family
lore), he became a knight of a French noble order, and his family’s fortune
was restored. When he returned to India, he took his father’s place as Pondi-
chéry’s chief commercial broker and chef des malabars, displacing his father’s
rival, Kanakaraya Pedro Mudali. But Guruvappa’s triumphant trip to Paris is
but one example of an intermediary on the move among many in Pondichéry
at the time of the Nayiniyappa Affair.

In Pondichéry, Tamil men employed by French traders and missionaries
as professional go-betweens traveled in India, across the Indian Ocean, and
between India and France. This chapter examines both the mobility of local
intermediaries and French reliance on this mobility. It advances two related
arguments, the first concerning go-betweens’ mobility and the second con-
cerning French responses to this mobility. First, the concomitant presence
of mobility and stability in the lives of colonial intermediaries helps explain
the extensive role these men filled in Pondichéry’s development in the first
decades of the eighteenth century. The journeys undertaken by several of
Pondichéry’s commercial and religious intermediaries reveal that these
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Indian employees had the contacts, experience, and ability to act as avatars
for their French employers in far-flung locations. They used their portable
connections and skills while also deploying travel to improve their own social
position. That is, somewhat paradoxically, their stability and relative enmesh-
ment in long-standing social structures enabled them to move with relative
freedom between ports, markets, and associations. In the lives of interme-
diaries, mobility and stability were mutually constitutive. Being known—as
a neighbor, relative, creditor, coreligionist—opened up pathways of travel,
making go-betweens accepted visitors. At the same time, the benefits accrued
from traveling on behalf of French employers bolstered the position of go-
betweens in their communities of origin. Movement not only was a physical
practice in space but could also contribute to movement of a different kind,
up the social scale.

The Nayiniyappa Affair again supplies a prism, here shedding light on the
mobility of intermediaries in the context of empire. This is demonstrated by
the travels of two intermediaries, both intimately connected with the affair,
from Pondichéry to Paris. The first is Guruvappa, who became a professional
intermediary as a result of his travels; the second is Manuel Geganis, son of
the Jesuits’ catechist (religious intermediary) and the central interpreter in
Nayiniyappa’s investigation. Their travels illuminate the broad geographical
breadth of the Nayiniappa Affair as a local scandal with global dimensions.
Long-established roots in the Tamil region made both men’s travels possible.
While Nayiniyappa had been stripped of his riches and died in prison, the
family’s position within a broad network of well-off merchants most likely
enabled and funded Guruvappa’s travel, and connections with the MEP mis-
sionaries in Pondichéry secured him an introduction in Paris. He returned
to India with a French name, clothes, and confession but still with the hab-
its of a local (more on that below) and was quickly reincorporated into the
local landscape. Much the same holds true for Manuel, who traveled to Paris
because he was part of a local clan that was well connected with the Jesuits,
and his ties of kinship served as the basis for his travels. Once he was back
in India, his journey to the metropole enabled him to serve a crucial role in
the Nayiniyappa Affair as its chief interpreter.

The second argument advanced here stems from an examination of French
approaches and reactions to intermediaries’ capacity for mobility. The tense
divisions between French commercial and missionary projects played out in
yet another field. French traders traveled from port to port across the Indian
Ocean, buying and selling as they went, and ventured inland to fill their ships’
holds with goods before returning to France to sell them. As Europeans, they
lacked reputation, credit, and history in the trading associations of the Indian
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Ocean. Without local commercial brokers they could not act effectively in
new markets. Missionaries also needed to travel from the moderately Chris-
tianized coast to the “pagan” hinterland, where souls were not quite waiting
to be harvested. They viewed this as a spiritual journey as well as a physical
one, traversing an arduous physical path just as they asked that their converts
undertake an epistemological shift from one set of practices and beliefs to
another. They relied on catechists, or religious interpreters, to negotiate this
unknown physical and spiritual terrain.

Traders and missionaries both employed Indian intermediaries to act on
their behalf, going where they were not known or welcome, and so moved
their agendas while staying in place. But traders and Jesuit missionaries
reacted very differently to the constraints and dependence they both faced.
French traders and officials of the Compagnie des Indes showed consider-
ably less resentment over this dependence than did the Jesuits. French trad-
ers were, by and large, willing to accept their dependence on intermediaries,
which aligned with their general preference for sustaining the trading net-
works along which merchandise profitably flowed. French Jesuits, on the
other hand, while they were reliant on their catechists to act on their behalf
in towns and villages where European missionaries were not welcome, were
often resentful of this dependence. The forcefulness with which the Jesuits
interfered with company business when they encouraged Governor Hébert
to arrest Nayiniyappa suggests this resentment; they also had ongoing con-
flicts with their own catechists.

Journeys and itineraries by intermediaries cemented and complicated
the connections and relationships between the various outposts of empire,
rendering meaningful the initial voyage that created a colony. Mobility and
stability, coming together in the personal histories of Pondichéry’s interme-
diaries, allowed go-betweens to participate in the creation of a relationship
between India and France. In the course of such voyages they wove together
the French empire, creating a world where Paris and Pondichéry productively
jostled one against the other.

A colony begins with a journey, made by settlers. Colonial histories have
often focused on the mobility of colonial settlers while paying less attention
to the travels of other agents in the colony.' In this, historians have followed
the lead of European colonial actors, who presented themselves to their sup-
porters at home as emphatically mobile, although their position in the colo-
nies as suspicious strangers severely circumscribed this mobility. Traders and
missionaries in French India shared the predicament of this duality, and they
consequently looked to local intermediaries for aid. Go-betweens addressed
this problem without entirely resolving it.
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Over the past several decades, scholars of both premodern India and
Old Regime France have overturned perceptions of these societies as static
realms, with a peasantry strictly bonded to a geographically restricted exis-
tence. The opportunities of early modern Europeans and South Asians alike
to travel outside their natal communities have garnered increasing attention.
One study has suggested that the category of “circulation” might adequately
capture the vibrant exchange of goods, people, and ideas in the Indian Ocean.’
The crucial link between mobility and imperial settings and horizons has been
trenchantly highlighted, yet with an emphasis on the “high” imperialism of
the nineteenth century.*

At the same time that men and women in France were enjoying increas-
ing opportunities for a mobile existence, the French actors who might have
seemed to embody the epitome of mobility—those who traveled across the
seas in pursuit of commercial and religious agendas—were in fact coming
to terms with the limits of and strictures on their own mobility. As the next
section will demonstrate, colonial administrators and missionaries had a well-
articulated vision of French projects as cosmopolitan and of transregional and
global reach. But this vision was undermined by Frenchmen’s limited ability
to make room for themselves in these locales.

As Stephen Greenblatt has pointed out, the cultural mobility of ideas,
practices, and metaphors relies on the literal, physical aspect of mobility—
bodies moving in space.” The contradiction between French ambition and
limited French physical mobility led colonists pursuing both commercial and
religious agendas to rely heavily on the physical transportability of the go-
betweens who could travel on their behalf. But ultimately the contradiction
that French employers faced, between mobile ambition and hampered move-
ment, made the mobility of their intermediaries a fraught issue.

Pondichéry and Its Settings

Connections across the region and the Indian Ocean more broadly were cen-
tral for Pondichéry’s development. The colony was the administrative, com-
mercial, and judicial center not only of the French holdings in India but also of
the French Indian Ocean. A key component of French imperial strategy in the
Indian Ocean was the founding of French colonies in fle Bourbon (present-
day Réunion, first claimed by the French in 1642) and ile de France (present-
day Mauritius, a French colony beginning in 1715).° An unidentified French
writer noted early in the eighteenth century, “Commerce in the Indies, by its
nature as well as the current state of affairs, is connected to the operations of
government, and the administration of our colonies and our factories in the
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eastern seas is connected to the commerce of the Indies. In order to guarantee
this commerce we must have a fulcrum in this region.” The writer argued
that French administrators must consider fle de France in the context of the
Indian Ocean. “As long as we possess this important island, the door of the
Indies will be open to us; if we lose this island, the door of the Indies will close
forever.”” Pondichéry’s success or failure was irrevocably tied up with the
state of other French interests in this maritime region.

The French desire for continuous presence and influence across the Indian
Ocean region was often thwarted. Where French officials imagined a spec-
trum of similarity, made coherent and cohesive by virtue of French gover-
nance, the reality of Indian Ocean dissimilarities provided an unwelcome
reminder of the fragility of this imperial imaginary. Displaying their igno-
rance of the complexities of local affiliations, the Parisian directors requested
in 1719 that “a dozen young Christian Malabar girls, capable of spinning cot-
ton” be sent to the company’s colony in ile Bourbon. The Pondichéry council
had to explain that complying with the company’s request would undoubt-
edly lead to violence and dire consequences.®

Opportunities for French expansion, commercial or religious, were not
limited to locales where Frenchmen had already achieved some semblance of
sovereignty, such as the Indian Ocean island colonies or the French comptoirs
in India. French officials viewed the British-ruled city of Madras, Pondichéry’s
largest neighbor, as an important hunting ground for such opportunities.
Linguistic and historiographical specialization has led scholars to divide the
study of Portuguese, Dutch, British, and French projects in India into separate
realms of analysis and in turn to keep those separate from Indian regional his-
tory. In the case of Pondichéry and Madras, most scholars have studied the
cities separately or imagined them as pawns in the global struggle between
France and England. A regional context reveals that the history of Madras and
Pondichéry’s relationship depended as much on the two cities” proximity as
on their strategic value in a global tussle. Pondichéry and Madras were woven
together in ways that circumvented the divisions imposed by European rival-
ries, a fact both European and Indian agents recognized and made use of early
in the eighteenth century.

Parisian directors and trader-officials in Pondichéry alike sought to recruit
Madras’s wealthy and well-credited merchant class. The Pondichéry council
declared that “there is only one solution” to the problem of supplying mer-
chandise to French ships, “which is to employ every possible means to con-
vince the merchants of Madras, powerful and accredited, to come and settle
in Pondichéry.” Local employees had familial and commercial connections
in both cities, and Nayiniyappa and his extended family allowed the council
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to tap into this resource. Nayiniyappa himself had relocated from Madras to
Pondichéry as a young man, and once established there, at the urging of Gov-
ernor Hébert, convinced his brother-in-law Tiruvangadan, a wealthy mer-
chant in the city, to join him in Pondichéry." Tiruvangadan and Nayiniyappa
then lured a network of their associates to the French colony.

A memoir written by Tiruvangandan’s descendant late in the eighteenth
century recounted how these new arrivals from Madras used their connec-
tions to populate the French colony with their acquaintances. “[Tiruvangadan
and Nayiniyappa] wrote to their correspondents in the towns and villages of
this province, who sent merchants, weavers, cloth painters and workers of
all kinds of métiers and professions, and thus the colony took on a certain
luster,” recounted the memoir. “They began to produce and paint fabrics
here, and commerce opened up, by both sea and land.” Prior to these efforts,
the writer claimed, Pondichéry was little more than a village, peopled only
by petty shopkeepers and farmers, lacking a proper commercial class.'’ The
connections of men like Nayiniyappa across the region, rather than condi-
tions created by the French, were most crucial for the creation of such a class.

Tiruvangadan’s network of associates in Madras was precisely what made
him an attractive recruit for the French. Prior to the explosion of the Nay-
iniyappa Affair, colonial officials explicitly asked him to arrange for the ship-
ment of merchandise from various ports by deploying his friends to do so.
Tiruvangadan mentioned that brokers relied on the ties of friendship more
than once in a document he submitted in the course of the Nayiniyappa Affair
when he recounted his connections with the French company. As he noted,
“In order to succeed [in the job given to him by the company] I invested my
capital and that of my friends.”'* French newcomers had much more difficulty
forging such friendships.

In 1716, Governor Hébert claimed that Tiruvangadan was in posses-
sion of funds embezzled by Nayiniyappa and arrested him. Tiruvangadan
wrote an appeal that began by laying claim to his well-established position in
Madras as the anchor of his respectability: “I, being a merchant of this town
of Madraspatan, land of the English, where I lived with my business dealings,
my reputation and the credit of my person.”"’ Later, when he was banished
from Pondichéry, he returned to Madras and there composed an appeal to
the French Crown, using a French-speaking notary in Madras. He returned
to Pondichéry after Nayiniyappa’s exoneration, and according to the family
memoir written by his grandson, the five richest merchants in Madras and
their families accompanied him. These merchants brought with them some-
thing more important than capital: sought-after Indian Ocean connections,
crucial to Pondichéry’s ambitions of becoming an important trading center.
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As soon as these merchants were settled in the colony, they began fitting out
ships and sending them all around the Indian Ocean—to Manila, Aden, and
Mocha. Thus, Tiruvangandan’s grandson wrote, “Due to the intervention of
my grandfather and the merchants he brought with him, commerce opened
up and was linked to all ports.”™

Tiruvangandan’s actions proved immediately beneficial to the company’s
global commercial interests. In April of 1720, when the Christian Pedro was
still chief broker, the Pondichéry Sovereign Council recorded that “Tirou-
vengadam, a malabar merchant and resident of this town” (not certainly but
very likely Nayiniyappa’s brother-in-law), had brokered a relationship with
Portuguese merchants in Macao, who were interested in regularly sending
ships to Pondichéry—a very desirable proposition for the French, who were
constantly trying to lure credited and established Indian Ocean merchants to
their port. The Macao merchants demanded lower taxes as their privilege,
and the council readily acquiesced.”

The ties between Madras and Pondichéry could also be cemented back in
Europe in unexpected configurations. The diary of Nayiniyappa’s nephew
Ananda Ranga Pillai mentions that on one occasion when the French and
English governors of the neighboring Indian colonies found themselves in
Europe at the same time, they became housemates. He heard from the cap-
tain of a ship recently arrived from Europe that “Mr. Pitt [the governor of
Madras] was living in France in the same house with M. Lenoir [the governor
of Pondichéry], and that they were inseparable companions.”'® Thus it was
that being neighbors in India made unlikely bedfellows in France of the gov-
ernors of rival colonies.

Intermediaries, Information, and
Regional Connections

When Ananda Ranga Pillai was chief broker to the French, he received daily
reports from the corps des marchands des malabars and the caste chiefs on what
had occurred in each of their districts the previous day. The reports and their
frequency indicate the importance of connections outside Pondichéry."” By
serving as a clearinghouse for regional information, Ananda Ranga Pillai
could create commercial opportunities, drawing on wider resources than
those available in the French colony. Even before he was promoted to chief
broker, when the French wanted to begin producing blue cotton in Pondi-
chéry rather than importing it from the important trading port of Porto
Novo (Parangipettai) sixty kilometers away, Pillai made this possible. He
orchestrated a series of complex political negotiations and some strategic gift
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giving that resulted in the relocation of skilled weavers from Porto Novo to
Pondichéry." In compensation for his efforts, the Superior Council of Pondi-
chéry rewarded him the privilege of supplying blue cloth for ships headed for
Europe, ile de France, and other places." Beyond the financial reward, this
mark of distinction further strengthened the broker’s importance and influ-
ence in the region. It likely was a crucial step in securing him the position of
chief broker in 1746.

The story of Nayiniyappa’s sons’ banishment from the colony after their
father’s death and subsequent return to Pondichéry also illustrates how inter-
mediaries” acceptance in the local landscape could have more than mere com-
mercial benefits. Nayiniyappa was well into his sixties at the time of his arrest.
Nevertheless, the sons claimed that his death less than a year into his three-
year sentence occurred under suspicious circumstances. Nayiniyappa, wrote
his sons, “suffered incredible pain and misery” after his whipping and during
the months of his imprisonment.”” On the night of August 6 he suffered a loss
of blood, and the following night he died. “It was made known to us,” the
sons claimed, “that on the Thursday night before his death, Hébert fils and
some soldiers came to our father’s prison cell, and one of them hit our father
several times with the hilt of his sword. But we have no certain proof of this.
One of the surgeons of the company visited our father that Friday, and filed
a report that he found him seriously ill, but not at all in danger of death, nev-
ertheless he lost the ability to speak, and died.”*! Nayiniyappa’s sons were not
the only ones who claimed that the broker’s death was suspicious. An anony-
mous history of the Compagnie des Indes, one critical of Hébert, described
Nayiniyappa’s death in these terms: “[Nayiniyappa] died in prison after some
time, a death that surprised everyone.”*

Three days after their father’s death, Nayiniyappa’s sons relocated to a
village away from Pondichéry and French rule. But merely leaving Pondi-
chéry, they complained in one of their appeals, was not enough to protect
them from Hébert’s wrath: “Three pions were sent from Pondichéry to assas-
sinate us,” they claimed.”” Sensible of their position in the region, the Indian
ruler of the province to which the sons had relocated commanded the village
chiefs to guard them day and night and assure their safety.* One day, when a
servant from Pondichéry arrived in the village, he was immediately identified
as a stranger and therefore as a threat. Under interrogation, the man could
supply no satisfactory explanation for his presence in the village. In fact, the
networks of regional knowledge exposed him as a fraud: he claimed to be on
his way to visit friends at a neighboring village but was not able to supply their
names. Finally, the man admitted he had come to see Nayiniyappa’s sons. But
when the sons arrived, they did not recognize him. The sons claimed that at
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this point the man admitted that Pedro, the new head broker, had recruited
him and others to kill them in return for cash, jewelry, and lifetime employ-
ment in the service of the French company.”

There is no way of knowing whether this alleged assassination attempt
actually occurred. But its telling suggests the special benefits of being
known and the drawbacks of being unknown. Nayiniyappa’s sons expected
their story to be considered plausible when they claimed local leaders had
protected them because of their family’s stature in the area. They likewise
knew that the claim that a stranger coming after them took a risk in doing
so would have the ring of truth. The Frenchmen who heard their story
would know better than anybody the risks of being a stranger and that
some people would be recognized, protected, and accepted where they
were not.

Guruvappa’s Travels: A Tamil Broker in Paris

It was one of Nayiniyappa’s French supporters who first suggested that a rep-
resentative from the family travel to France to present in person the case
for the restitution of Nayiniyappa’s fortune. The Pondichéry governor had
reversed the verdict against the broker in 1719, but the earliest mention of
the plan to travel to Paris appeared even earlier than that. Denyon, a former
engineer who was responsible for the building of Pondichéry’s fort, proposed
this course of action. Back in Paris, Denyon, along with a man named de Sault
(arelative of Hébert’s rival, Governor Dulivier), served as the Paris liaison for
the appeals filed by the Indians before the French king. In a letter he wrote in
1718 to Tiruvangadan, Denyon argued that any effort he himself could under-
take in Paris would have only limited success: “I believe that affairs that are
important and of delicate consequences could not be decided in your favor
and others before the departure of the ships for India; you would do well to
engage Rama [Ramanada] to go to England to come here [France] and throw
himself at the feet of the king.”*¢

It was Guruvappa who soon acted on Denyon’s advice. In a notarial docu-
ment filed in Pondichéry in 1719, he anticipated that this journey and his
stay in France would prove expensive. He petitioned the council to order
Governor Hébert and his son to pay his expenses, claiming that it was their
evil machinations that had necessitated his trip.” Leaving Pondichéry for
Madras, Guruvappa embarked on a British ship that set sail for London, and
from there made his way to Paris.”® He arrived there not as a stranger, for his
French allies in Pondichéry had set the stage for him. Father Tessier, the MEP
missionary in Pondichéry, had written to the directors of the MEP seminary



138 THE AFTERLIVES OF THE AFFAIR

Martin wrote that the catechists were sometimes those who provided the
worst examples: “The catechists are often the first to scandalize the people
with the bad example they provide, or obstruct the missionaries in the exer-
cise of their ministry, due to their stubbornness and opinionated nature; and
yet the missionaries dare not punish the catechists, for fear of bringing a cruel
persecution on the whole mission.””” This passage described a power struggle
without a clear winner. Martin found the catechists headstrong and indepen-
dent but had no way to control them. Their regional connections made them
potentially dangerous foes.

In a letter of December 10, 1718, the Jesuit father Le Gac created a reveal-
ing juxtaposition between two stories concerning catechists. The first story
presented a commendable catechist and the other, an errant one. The first
described a catechist who came to a village in order to instruct a group that
expressed interest in Christianity. Upon his arrival in the village, where he
was unknown, he was arrested as a spy.” He was then presented before
the village head, and the catechist told him that the Sanyassi (meaning the
missionaries, described here with the Hindu term for ascetic) for whom he
worked enjoyed the protection of the governor. The catechist was neverthe-
less put in prison, but throughout the night he fearlessly read aloud Christian
texts." Two important Indian men from a neighboring village, who knew the
catechist, came and vouched for his innocence and virtue and obtained his
release.® Le Gac approved of this catechist’s piety and fortitude.

The second story, presented a few pages later in the letter, concerned a
catechist who was summoned by a Hindu man with an interest in Christian-
ity to instruct him in his village. But the catechist made various excuses and
delayed his arrival for a long period. Once he made the journey, he remained
in place a mere three days before returning to the mission. The catechist was
worried for his own safety, for it was known that in this village strangers were
often subject to severe punishments.” Le Gac denounced the catechist who
refused to travel, blaming him for his timidity.**

Taken together, the two stories demonstrate that the Jesuits demanded
fearlessness from the catechists and a disregard for their safety. A catechist
who brought persecution on himself was presented in heroic terms, while
one who demonstrated warranted caution, for cruel treatment was often the
lot of imprisoned catechists, was denigrated as a coward. The first story also
reflected the missionaries’ powerlessness to protect the catechists; an intimate
network in which they were unable to participate, connections forged of
neighborhood and family ties, achieved their man’s release. The refusal of the
second catechist to travel to the village also illustrated the difficulty the mis-
sionaries encountered in their relations with the catechists and in the mission
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returned to the colony in 1715, this time with an appointment as Governor
Dulivier’s superior, with the newly created title of “General of the Nation.”

The second time Hébert fell from grace, he would not have such a quick
recovery. On July 14, 1718, he and his son were signing their names to a stan-
dard deliberation of the council.”® The very next deliberation in the record,
dated August 19, 1718, notes the arrival of a ship from France, carrying orders
from the king to remove Hébert from his position as governor and president
of the council and replace him with La Prévostiére as interim governor.” The
following day the new governor read before the council a letter from the
company’s general directors regarding Hébert's removal. It demanded
the seizure of all Hébert’s papers, furniture, personal effects, account regis-
ters, and books—and not only those kept by Hébert himself but anything
belonging to him that might be held in other hands.”

Perhaps worried that Hébert would make scarce either his papers or him-
self, the councillors immediately dispatched two of their members to Hébert’s
house with the seals of the company as tangible proof of their authority over
their former superior.” In December of 1718 the council’s records noted that
Hébert had refused to comply with the seizure of his goods and that the com-
pany had accommodated him in this matter.* At this time, the council mem-
bers wrote, they had received new information regarding embezzlement by
Hébert and his son, including a claim that Hébert owed the company the
enormous sum of one hundred thousand livres.®! In the meantime, claimed
the council, in order to protect the interests of the company and of the mul-
tiple people who had brought complaints against the Héberts, father and son
must be held at the fort until the departure of the next ship to prevent an
escape or a spiriting away of their fortune.*

That Hébert and his son found themselves as prisoners at the fort—the
very same fort in which Nayiniyappa was held and where he died—must have
carried special resonance for both the former governor and the men who
had been his subordinates. The procureur général suggested that the Héberts
be sent to France as prisoners under the authority of the ship’s captain until
they could be transferred to the king’s officers immediately upon disembarka-
tion in France.® When the council signed this order on December 15, 1718,
Hébert completed his transformation from prosecutor to prisoner.

Hébert described his arrest: “On the 15th of December, as I was return-
ing from mass, I was taken from my house, dragged through the streets of
Pondichéry, and taken by a troop of soldiers as if I were a scoundrel and a
villain, and confined in a small prison alongside my son.”® As in Nayiniyappa’s
case, all his requests for an explanation for why he was being subjected to
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to Pondichéry to fill the ships’ holds with Indian goods, mostly cloth woven
by local artisans.'? The majority of the journal was written at sea and thus
devoted to matters of wind and navigation. But when the merchant sailors
arrived in Pondichéry in 1714, they were impressed by the massive wedding
celebration hosted by Nayiniyappa in honor of his son.'* It is poignant to
think of this demonstration of power and family taking place so shortly before
Nayiniyappa’s lonely death in his prison cell. But it is also noteworthy that
this trace of Nayiniyappa’s family affair should appear in the record of a ship’s
journal currently held in a departmental archive in Nantes, penned by one
M. Robert, a man who had surely never before heard of Nayiniyappa or his
importance for the French project. Yet there Nayiniyappa is in the journal,
“a facteur of the Company, a Black gentile.”'"” The ship’s scribe described the
wedding ceremony as being carried out “in the manner of the gentiles, and
with all possible magnificence,” and the writer breathlessly reported that
the wedding cost more than eight thousand pagodas.'’* When the town’s
Christians—French and Tamil alike—married, Pondichéry’s civil records
recorded the fact in a brief entry. The record of a journey from Brest thus
provides the only source for the elaborate details of a marriage that appears
to have taken over the streets of Pondichéry, both “White Town” and “Black
Town,” for days on end, with the cannons in the fort booming in celebra-
tion."” Both the global distribution of the archiving of this event and the
munificence it described—striking enough that a visitor newly arrived to the
colony would devote several pages of a ship’s journal to detail the wedding
celebrated by the colony’s broker—reveal Nayiniyappa as a man occupying
significant space in the colony’s early days and its historical record.

The Nayiniyappa Affair demonstrates that while archives are an instru-
ment of power, access to the act of archiving is broadly available, at least
to actors with the literacy and social authority to produce records that have

118 The affair made visible the existence of a shared vision in

probative value.
the colony of archives as a prerequisite for action, knowledge, and reputa-
tion. Just as the Nayiniyappa Affair had global reach and concerned issues of
shared and unexpectedly distributed authority, so its archives are also globally
constituted and in turn widely distributed. The distribution of the archives is

emblematic of the distribution of authority.
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ADLA Archives départementales de Loire Atlantique, Nantes, France

ADN Archives de Nantes, Nantes, France

AMEP Archives, Missions étrangeres de Paris, France

AN Archives nationales de France, Paris, France

ANOM  Archives nationales d’outre-mer, Aix-en-Provence, France
BC Bibliotheque franciscaine des Capucins, Paris
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FM Fonds ministériels

GR Greffes

INDE Fonds territoreaux, Etablissements frangais de 1'Inde
MAR Fonds de la Marine

MF Manuscrits frangais

NAF Nouvelles acquisitions francaises

NAIP National Archives of India, Puducherry Record Centre, India
Vanves Archives Jésuites, Vanves, France
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